

LUND UNIVERSITY

Early Integration of Specialized Palliative Care with Oncological Treatment

Bojesson, Anders

2024

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Bojesson, Á. (2024). Early Integration of Specialized Palliative Care with Oncological Treatment. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Early Integration of Specialized Palliative Care with Oncological Treatment

ANDERS BOJESSON

DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES, LUND | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Early Integration of Specialized Palliative Care with Oncological Treatment

Early Integration of Specialized Palliative Care with Oncological Treatment

Anders Bojesson MD



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on 8th of November 2024 at 13.00 at the Torsten Landberg Hall, Department of Oncology, Lasarettsgatan 23A, Lund

Faculty opponent Professor David Currow, Faculty of Science, Medicine and Health, University of Wollongong, Australia. Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY Date of issue: 2024-11-08 **Document name:** Doctoral Dissertation Serries 2024:131 **Author(s):** Anders Bojesson

Title and subtitle: Early Integration of Specialized Palliative care with Oncological Treatment

Abstract:

The primary aim of specialized palliative care (SPC) is to improve the quality of life (QoL) for patients with advanced cancer and other life-threatening diseases by alleviating the burden of symptoms.

Aims

- To examine potential negative prognostic factors at the start of second line (SL) palliative chemotherapy (CHT) and to determine whether enrollment to SPC affects CHT use near death and emergency care utilization, in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer.
- Whether patients with advanced gastrointestinal (GI) cancers who were randomized to early
 integration of home-based SPC had a better QoL, utilized less emergency healthcare, and
 received less CHT near the end of life compared to a control group who were referred to homebased SPC as per need in the disease trajectory.

Material and methods

Articles I and II report on retrospective studies including 170 patients with advanced pancreatic cancer receiving palliative CHT. Article III and manuscript IV present results from a randomized controlled trial (RCT) including 118 patients with advanced GI cancer randomized to early integration of home-based SPC (active group) or not (control group) alongside tumor-specific treatment.

Results and conclusion

Hypoalbuminemia and performance status 2 were negative prognostic factors for overall survival (OS) in advanced pancreatic cancer patients starting SL palliative CHT. Those enrolled in SPC for over 30 days before death used less emergency care and had a longer time between last palliative CHT treatment and death compared to those enrolled later or not at all. The RCT showed improved QoL for patients in the active group 24 weeks after randomization. These patients used less emergency care throughout their disease trajectory and had equal OS and use of CHT compared to the control group.

This thesis advocates for the early integration of tumor-specific treatment with home-based SPC for patients with advanced GI cancers.

Key words: Palliative care, early integration of palliative care, quality of life, home-based care, gastrointestinal cancer, advanced cancer and palliative chemotherapy.

Language: EnglishISSN and key title: 1652-8220ISBN: 978-91-8021-629-6Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:131

Number of pages: 83

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Early Integration of Specialized Palliative Care with Oncological Treatment

Anders Bojesson MD



Copyright pp 1-83 Anders Bojesson Illustration by Eva Brun, associate professor, PhD and artist.

Paper 1 © by the Authors (Open Access) Paper 2 © by the Authors (Open Access) Paper 3 © by the Authors (Open Access) Manuscript 4 © by the Authors

Lund University Faculty of Medicine

Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:131 ISBN 978-91-8021-629-6 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University

Lund 2024



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



Till mamma och pappa

Table of Contents

Thesis at a glance	10
Abstract	11
List of Articles	13
Abbreviations	14
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	16
1. Introduction	18
1.1. Palliative medicine and palliative care in cancer	18
1.1.2. History and development	20
1.2. Palliative care and cancer	22
1.2.1. Specialized palliative care	27
1.2.2. Navigating end of life oncology treatment decisions and	
hospital care utilization	
1.2.3. Specialized palliative care and timing	30
1.3. Palliative chemotherapy and therapeutic considerations in	
gastrointestinal cancers	35
2. Aims of the thesis	37
3. Material and methods	38
3.2. Articles I and II	38
3.2.1. Statistics	
3.3. Article III and Manuscript IV	40
3.4. Ethical considerations	43
3.4.1. Articles I and II	43
3.4.2. Article III and Manuscript IV	43
4. Results	45
4.1. Article I	45
4.2. Article II	50
4.3. Article III and Manuscript IV	52

5. Discussion	60
6. Conclusion	68
7. Future perspectives	69
7. Acknowledgements	71
8. References	73

Thesis at a glance

#	Aim	Method	Results	Conclusion
I	To study prognostic factors and survival in reference to second-line palliative CHT in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer.	Retrospective single-center study of 170 patients treated at a tertiary cancer center in southern Sweden.	Median OS from start of second-line treatment was 5.0 months for the entire cohort, 2.9 months for patients with PS 2, and 3.5 months for patients with low albumin.	PS 2 and hypoalbuminemia may be negative prognostic factors for survival in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer.
II	To examine whether longer enrollment in SPC (>30 days) affects time from last CHT treatment to death, number of hospitalizations, OS, and place of death, compared to patients with shorter enrollment (≤30 days).	Retrospective single-center study of 170 patients treated at a tertiary cancer center in southern Sweden.	Patients with >30 days in SPC had a median of 73 days between last CHT and death compared to 44 days for those with ≤30 days, as well as fewer hospitalizations (median 1 vs. 2). Only 2% of SPC- referred patients died in the hospital, versus 84% of those never referred.	Enrollment in SPC for >30 days may lower the risk of receiving futile palliative CHT treatment at EOL as well as the risk of dying in the hospital, compared to patients with shorter or no enrollment in SPC.
Ш	To assess the impact of early integration of home-based SPC alongside tumor- specific treatment on QoL, CHT use, and survival.	RCT of 118 patients with advanced GI cancer randomized to tumor-specific treatment with (active group) or without (control group) early integration of SPC.	Mean total change in FACT-G score between baseline and 24 weeks was 13 points higher (indicating a QoL improvement) in the active group than in the control group. Groups did not differ in terms of OS or time between last CHT cycle and death.	This RCT supports early integration of SPC with tumor- specific treatment for advanced GI cancers, showing improved QoL 24 weeks post- randomization to home-based SPC.
IV	To evaluate the impact of early integration of home- based SPC alongside tumor-specific treatment on emergency care needs, time from CHT treatment to death, and place of death.	RCT of 118 advanced GI cancer patients randomized to tumor-specific treatment with (active group) or without (control group) early SPC integration.	Patients in the active group and the control group had 1 versus 3 emergency ward visits and 1.5 versus 11.5 days of inpatient care, respectively. Groups did not differ in terms of either CHT use near death or place of death.	Early integration of home-based SPC reduces the need for emergency healthcare and hospitalizations in advanced GI cancer patients compared to those randomized to the control group.

CHT – chemotherapy; EOL – end of life; FACT-G, – Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy - General; GI – gastrointestinal; OS – overall survival; PS – performance status; QoL – quality of life; RCT – randomized controlled trial; SPC – specialized palliative care.

Abstract

Background

The primary aim of specialized palliative care (SPC) is to increase or maintain quality of life (QoL) for patients with advanced cancer and other life-threatening diseases by alleviating disease- and treatment-related symptoms. A close collaboration between oncologic treating units and SPC teams may enhance symptom management in patients with advanced cancer. The American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) suggests integrating SPC with standard oncological therapy for patients with advanced cancer (stage ≥III pancreatic cancer or stage IV solid tumor).

The aim of this thesis was to investigate:

- Potential negative prognostic factors that would argue against starting second line (SL) chemotherapy (CHT) with a palliative intent in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer.
- Whether enrollment to SPC affects palliative CHT use near the end of life (EOL) and emergency care utilization for patients with advanced pancreatic cancer.
- Whether patients with advanced gastrointestinal (GI) cancers who were randomized to early integration of home-based SPC had a better QoL, utilized less emergency healthcare, and received less CHT near the end of life (EOL) compared to a control group who were referred to home-based SPC by a treating oncologist, when need arose, later during the treatment trajectory.

Material and methods

Articles I and II report on retrospective studies including 170 patients with advanced pancreatic cancer who received palliative CHT at Skåne University Hospital. Article III and Manuscript IV describe results from a randomized controlled trial (RCT) involving 118 patients with advanced GI cancer randomized to tumor-specific treatment with or without early integration of home-based SPC.

Results and conclusions

Hypoalbuminemia and performance status (PS) 2 (where 0 is without any negative impact on the general condition and 4 is completely disabled, bedridden) were negative prognostic factors for survival when SL palliative CHT was initiated in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer, compared to patients with normal albumin levels and PS 0–1. Patients with advanced pancreatic cancer enrolled in SPC for more than 30 days

before death utilized less emergency care and had a longer period of time between the last palliative CHT treatment and death compared to patients never enrolled or enrolled for a shorter period of time.

The RCT showed improved QoL for patients with advanced GI cancer 24 weeks after randomization to early integration of home-based SPC. These patients used less emergency healthcare throughout their disease trajectory and had equal overall survival (OS) and CHT use near death compared to the control group, who were referred to SPC if and when the treating oncologist found it indicated.

This thesis advocates for the early integration of tumor-specific treatment with homebased SPC for patients with advanced GI cancers.

List of Articles

Article I

Second-line palliative chemotherapy, survival, and prognostic factors in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer.

Ekström A, Brun E, Eberhard J, Segerlantz M. Acta Oncologica. 2021;60:1580–1588.

Article II

Integration of specialized palliative care with oncological treatment in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer.

Ekström A, Brun E, Eberhard J, Segerlantz M. Journal of Pancreatic Cancer. 2022;8:2–8.

Article III

Quality of life for patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancer randomised to early specialised home-based palliative care: the ALLAN trial. Bojesson A, Brun E, Eberhard J, Segerlantz M.

British Journal of Cancer 131. 729–736 (2024).

Manuscript IV

The ALLAN Trial: Impact of Early Home-Based Palliative Care on Emergency Care and Hospitalisation in Advanced Gastrointestinal Cancer Patients Bojesson A, Brun E, Eberhard J, Segerlantz M.

To be sent for peer review to the British Journal of Cancer in September 2024.

Abbreviations

ASCO	American Society of Clinical Oncology
ASIH	Advanced care at home
CA 19-9	Carbohydrate antigen 19-9
CHT	Chemotherapy
EOL	End of life
EORTC QLQ-C30	The European Organization for Research and Treatment
	of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire
ESAS	Edmonton Symptom Assessment System
ESMO	European Society of Clinical Oncology
FACT-G	Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy – General
FL	First line
FLOX	5-fluorouracil, oxaliplatin, and leucovorin
FOLFIRINOX	Oxaliplatin, irinotecan, leucovorin, and fluorouracil
GEM	Gemcitabine
GEM/ABRAX	Gemcitabine plus albumin-bound paclitaxel
GEM/CAP	Gemcitabine and capecitabine
HADS	Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale
HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma
IAHPC	International Association for Hospice & Palliative Care
IPOS	Integrated Patient Care Outcome Scale
Nab-Paclitaxel	Albumin-bound paclitaxel
OS	Overall survival
PC	Palliative care
PS	Performance status
QoL	Quality of life
QUAL-E	Quality of Life at the End of Life Scale
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
SL	Second line
SPC	Specialized palliative care
WHO	World Health Organization

Life is pleasant. Death is peaceful. It is the transition that is troublesome. Isaac Asimov, *Fantastic Voyage II*: Destination Brain

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

För många av oss blir livets slut och döden en stillsam process. Men ibland innefattar livets sista tid ett stort fysiskt eller psykiskt lidande och experter inom symtomlindring behövs – det specialiserade palliativa teamet.

Palliativ vård uppfattas oftast som vård i livets slutskede men bör ses som den samlade insatsen av symtomlindring, såväl fysisk som psykisk som erbjuds patienter med en besvärande symtombörda i en avancerad sjukdomssituation, oavsett prognos eller annan pågående behandling. Allmän palliativ vård, såsom lindring vid måttlig smärta och ångest, kan ges av all medicinsk personal. Den specialiserade palliativa vården tar hand om patienter med komplexa symtom och förmedlas av läkare som är specialister inom palliativ medicin. I det specialiserade palliativa teamet ingår även specialistutbildade sjuksköterskor, undersköterskor, fysioterapeuter, arbetsterapeuter, kuratorer och även dietist, psykolog och präst.

Specialiserad palliativ vård finns organiserat på olika sätt i Sverige, oftast med möjligheter till inneliggande palliativ vård under en kortare tid. I Skåne finns flera specialiserade palliativa team som bedriver avancerad sjukvård i hemmen, alla under samma huvudman. Där kan teamet till exempel ge intravenös behandling med antibiotika, blod och göra symtomskattningar och därefter ordinera symtomlindrande åtgärder.

Patienter med en avancerad cancersjukdom i mag-tarmkanalen har en hög risk att drabbas av svåra symtom, i första hand smärta, illamående, ångest men löper också risk för komplikationer som tarmvred och svårigheter att få i sig näring. Cancer i den övre delen av magtarmkanalen är oftast aggressiv och drabbade patienter lever i genomsnitt ett år efter diagnosen av en avancerad cancer. Symtomen kan uppträda snabbt och patienterna behöver ofta söka akutsjukvård.

I vår första, retrospektiva journalstudie fann vi att 19% av patienter med avancerad bukspottkörtelcancer, behandlade vid Skånes Universitetssjukhus, fick behandling med cytostatika sista månaden i livet. Utöver det hade patienter med dåligt allmäntillstånd (performance status 2) och lågt äggviteämne (albumin) i blodet ingen förlängd överlevnad av en andra linjes behandling med cytostatika. Vår andra retrospektiva studie undersökte om tiden ansluten till den specialiserade palliativa vården (över 30 dagar eller 30 dagar eller mindre före döden) påverkade antal akutbesök, inneliggande vård och tid mellan sista cytostatikabehandling och död hos patienter med avancerad bukspottkörtelcancer. Resultatet visade att patienter med den längre anslutningstiden (>30 dagar) sökte i mindre utsträckning akutsjukvård, hade färre antal dagar inneliggande på sjukhus och längre tid mellan sista cytostatikabehandling och död jämfört med patienter med en kortare anslutningstid (≤30 dagar) till den specialiserade palliativa vården.

Mellan åren 2014 och 2021 erbjöds patienter med icke botbar cancer i magtarmkanalen, i samband med att de skulle inleda cytostatikabehandling i lindrande syfte, på Skånes Onkologiska klinik i Lund och i Malmö, att delta i ALLAN studien (tidig pALLiativ ANslutning). Patienter som tackade ja slumpades till att samtidigt med start av cytostatikabehandling anslutas till den specialiserad palliativ vården (aktiv grupp) eller starta cytostatikabehandling och remitteras för anslutning till den specialiserad palliativ vården senare i förloppet, när behov för detta uppstod (kontrollgrupp). Totalt inkluderades 118 patienter, varav 60 hamnade i den aktiva gruppen och 58 i kontrollgruppen. Studiens syfte var att undersöka om det fanns skillnader mellan grupperna avseende livskvalitet, tid mellan sista cytostatikabehandlingen och död, behov av akutsjukvård och sjukhusinläggningar. Den aktiva gruppen befanns ha en bättre livskvalité, mätt efter 6 månader, sökte i mindre utsträckning akutsjukvård, och hade kortare vårdtid på sjukhus jämfört med kontrollgruppen, som anslöts till palliativ medicin vid behov. Patienter i kontrollgruppen som aldrig anslöts till den specialiserade palliativa vården dog i högre utsträckning på sjukhus jämfört med de patienter som anslutits.

ALLAN-studien är den första randomiserade, nordeuropeiska, studien som påvisar positiva effekter av en tidig palliativ anslutning hos patienter med avancerad cancer i mag-tarmkanalen.

1. Introduction

1.1. Palliative medicine and palliative care in cancer

Palliative care (PC) is a complex form of care, for which several definitions have been proposed. The World Health Organization (WHO) describes PC as follows:

"Palliative care is a crucial part of integrated, people-centered health services. Relieving serious health-related suffering, be it physical, psychological, social, or spiritual, is a global ethical responsibility. Thus, whether the cause of suffering is cardiovascular disease, cancer, major organ failure, drug-resistant tuberculosis, severe burns, end-stage chronic illness, acute trauma, extreme birth prematurity, or extreme frailty of old age, palliative care may be needed and has to be available at all levels of care." [1]

"Palliative care aims to prevent and relieve health related suffering of adults, children and their families facing problems associated with life-threatening illness. It is based on a comprehensive and person-centred approach, addressing physical, psychological, social and spiritual suffering. Providing equitable and timely access to good palliative care is an ethical duty shared by public health stakeholders and health care workers. Integrated palliative care is part of Universal Health Coverage and is an essential function of Primary Health Care. Special attention has to be given to monitor the quality of palliative care and to asses progresses made in answering people needs and expectations." [2]

The International Association for Hospice & Palliative Care (IAHPC) uses the following definition:

"Palliative care is the active holistic care of individuals across all ages with serious healthrelated suffering due to severe illness, and especially of those near the end of life. It aims to improve the quality of life of patients, their families and their caregivers.

Palliative care:

• Includes, prevention, early identification, comprehensive assessment and management of physical issues, including pain and other distressing symptoms,

psychological distress, spiritual distress and social needs. Whenever possible, these interventions must be evidence based.

- Provides support to help patients live as fully as possible until death by facilitating effective communication, helping them and their families determine goals of care.
- Is applicable throughout the course of an illness, according to the patient's needs.
- Is provided in conjunction with disease modifying therapies whenever needed.
- May positively influence the course of illness.
- Intends neither to hasten nor postpone death, affirms life, and recognizes dying as a natural process.
- Provides support to the family and the caregivers during the patient's illness, and in their own bereavement.
- Is delivered recognizing and respecting the cultural values and beliefs of the patient and the family.
- Is applicable throughout all health care settings (place of residence and institutions) and in all levels (primary to tertiary).
- Can be provided by professionals with basic palliative care training.
- Requires specialist palliative care with a multi-professional team for referral of complex cases." [3]

The Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare presents a Swedish definition of PC, which when literally translated into English reads as follows:

"The Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare defines palliative care as healthcare with the aim of alleviating suffering and promoting quality of life for patients with progressive, incurable illness or injury. Palliative care also involves consideration of physical, psychological, social, and existential needs, as well as organized support for caregivers. The Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare's definition concurs with the World Health Organization's (WHO) definition of palliative care.

Palliative care is based on a palliative approach characterized by a holistic view of the individual, supporting them to live with dignity and the highest possible well-being until the end of life, regardless of age or diagnosis.

Palliative care aims to prevent and alleviate suffering through early detection, analysis, and treatment of physical, psychological, social, and existential issues, achieved through collaboration within multi-professional teams. Palliative care can also be provided early in the course of the illness alongside life-prolonging treatment, which is not addressed here." [4]

While these three definitions of PC converge on a holistic approach, emphasis on quality of life, and support for families, they diverge in scope and specificity. The WHO definition adopts a broader, global, and more policy-oriented perspective; the IAHPC definition is detailed and operational; and the Swedish definition is concise and pragmatic, closely aligning with the WHO definition. The Swedish National Board definition differs as it focuses on patients with a progressive, incurable disease, while the other two definitions focus on patients with a high burden of symptoms.

1.1.2. History and development

Modern PC has its roots in the United Kingdom. In 1967, Cicely Saunders established St. Christopher's Hospice in London to care for cancer patients at the end of life (EOL). Saunders also introduced the concept of "total pain", which embodies a comprehensive understanding of the multifaceted nature of suffering experienced by patients with lifelimiting illnesses. Total pain extends beyond physical discomfort to encompass psychological, social, and spiritual dimensions, recognizing that pain is not merely a physiological phenomenon but a complex interplay of various distressing factors. This holistic perspective stresses the need to address all aspects of a patient's suffering, aiming to improve quality of life (QoL) and provide comprehensive support for patients and their families.



Figure 1. Visual conceptualization of total pain. Image generated by using ChatGPT-4.

Dr. Balfour Mount introduced the term "palliative care" in 1975 to describe his hospice initiative in Canada, a concept subsequently accepted globally [5]. In 1990, the WHO recognized palliative medicine as a specialty in medicine dedicated to relieving suffering and to improving QoL for patients with life-limiting illnesses.

In Sweden, PC has been developed around home care. Dr. Per Arnander organized the first palliative home care service in Jönköping in 1972. In 1977, Dr. Barbro Beck-Friis started a palliative home care service in Motala, focusing on a multi-professional approach to provide holistic care to incurably ill patients [6]. This and other work by Beck-Friis has been important in introducing PC into the Swedish healthcare system.

During the 1990s, several palliative care teams emerged in Sweden, and advanced care at home (ASIH) was initiated. The idea behind ASIH is to provide home-based SPC by a multi-professional team to patients with a high burden of symptoms from an incurable disease [7]. Another contribution to the development of PC in Sweden was made by Dr. Peter Strang, whose efforts led to the establishment of palliative medicine as a recognized specialty in 2015, which in turn led to physicians becoming responsible for specialized palliative care (SPC) within Swedish healthcare. In Sweden, 80% of patients enrolled in SPC have a diagnosis of cancer [8].

During the past 20 years, PC for cancer patients has transformed significantly. A shift has taken place from EOL care, when all oncological treatment was terminated, to a more comprehensive model integrated earlier in the cancer disease trajectory [9]. When referring to EOL, a timeframe of the last 6 months in life is commonly accepted [10, 11].

1.2. Palliative care and cancer

The focus of PC is on optimizing QoL for patients with advanced disease and a high burden of symptoms, addressing physical, emotional, and spiritual needs through comprehensive support and symptom management. Validated assessment methods, such as scales and questionnaires for numerical ratings, are internationally recognized to capture core elements such as QoL and symptom burden. The commonly used methods are presented below. A systematic review indicates that over 50% of patients with incurable cancer report five prevalent symptoms: fatigue, weakness, pain, weight loss, and appetite loss [12].

What is quality of life?

Quality of life is a multidimensional concept that is central both in PC and in healthcare in general. Addressing QoL is essential in providing comprehensive care for cancer patients throughout their disease trajectory. In medicine, QoL is sometimes referred to as health-related QoL; this term can be used interchangeably with QoL [13]. A patient's QoL is highly individual, and there is no strict definition of QoL.

Commonly, QoL is described in terms of physical, psychological, social, and spiritual dimensions [14]. Physical issues might include pain, fatigue, and side effects of disease-specific treatments. Psychological aspects often involve anxiety, depression, and coping with the diagnosis. Social aspects can relate to changes in relationships, social isolation, and role functioning. Spiritual dimensions may involve finding meaning, dealing with

existential questions, and maintaining hope. Additionally, patients may face varying demands for information, economic problems, and difficulties in managing different care situations [14]. These factors collectively impact their overall QoL, and require individualized approaches to support and care in order to maintain or improve QoL in PC [15].

During the disease trajectory, a patient's conception of QoL is challenged and may undergo changes. When people are asked about their priorities and the meaning of QoL, the views of healthy individuals differ from those of patients with newly diagnosed advanced cancer, which in turn differ from those of terminally ill patients [16]. In 1999, Singer et al. conducted, in Canada, a qualitative study using in-depth, face-to-face interviews from 3 previous studies with patients on dialysis, people with HIV, and residents of long-term care facilities [17]. The authors identified five domains affecting QoL in these terminally ill patients. In line with previous research, one of these domains was concerned with pain and other physical symptoms. The remaining domains included social connectedness, with patients expressing a desire to maintain control over their EOL care decisions as long as they were mentally capable. They also aimed to minimize the physical and emotional burden on their loved ones, while actively seeking the involvement of those dear to them during the dying process. The last domain involved avoiding inappropriate prolongation of dying, where study participants were afraid of being kept alive after they were unable to enjoy their lives. Patients may place greater importance on personal dignity and the meaningfulness of life rather than on physical symptoms or functional abilities [18]. However, physical discomfort strongly affects QoL for the dying person, and pain relief is often a dying patient's predominant concern [16].

Burden of symptoms

Symptom burden in patients with advanced cancer refers to the cumulative physical and psychological distress caused by the multiple symptoms associated with the disease, treatment-related side effects, and comorbid conditions [19]. These symptoms often include pain, fatigue, dyspnea, nausea, depression, and anxiety, among others, which can significantly impair the patient's QoL. In addition, there are the so-called "hidden toxicities" of being diagnosed and treated for advanced cancer. Hidden toxicities in advanced cancer patients can arise from psychological challenges, such as the anxiety associated with waiting for computed tomography results and blood samples, as well as financial and logistical burdens, including the costs and difficulties related to transportation, parking, and lodging. These often-overlooked factors significantly increase the overall distress experienced by patients [20]. Symptoms from various sources collectively contribute to a burden of symptoms representing the patient's subjective experience of disease or treatment burden.

The burden of symptoms can be thought of as the sum of the severity of symptoms reported by a significant proportion of patients with a specific disease or treatment [21]. In short, QoL as measured in patient-reported questionnaires (introduced in detail later in this chapter) is concerned with the burden of symptoms, and hence constitutes a subset of the overall well-being when estimating QoL in terms of life as a whole. In patients with advanced cancer, a high symptom burden is associated with a poor prognosis [22].

Assessment scales

Evaluation of a patient's general well-being and ability to perform activities of daily living is crucial in oncology and in medicine in general. One measure of functional status is the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status (PS), which has been adopted by the WHO [23] (Table 1). Before its introduction during the 1980s, Karnofsky PS was used for the same purpose. Karnofsky PS is a comprehensive 11-point scale correlating to percentage values ranging from 100% (no evidence of disease, no symptoms) to 0% (death) [24]. Due to its simplicity, ECOG/WHO PS is now broadly in use both in clinical practice and in clinical trials. In this thesis, ECOG/WHO PS will be referred to as PS.

When considering treatment with palliative chemotherapy (CHT) in patients with gastrointestinal (GI) cancers, it is vital to score the PS of a patient. The treating oncologist generally performs this scoring. Clinical trials introducing new treatment options are typically limited to healthier patients, such as those with a PS of 0-1 [25]. Consequently, there is a lack of clinical evidence for treatments suitable for more frail patients with poorer PS who are undergoing palliative CHT.

Performance status	Activity
0	Fully active, able to carry on all pre-disease performance without restriction.
1	Restricted in physically strenuous activity but ambulatory and able to carry out work of a light or sedentary nature, e.g., light housework, office work.
2	Ambulatory and capable of all self-care but unable to carry out any work activities. Up and about more than 50% of waking hours.
3	Capable of only limited self-care, confined to bed or chair more than 50% of waking hours.
4	Completely disabled. Cannot carry on any self-care. Totally confined to bed or chair.
5	Dead.

Table 1. World Health Organization/Eastern	Cooperative Oncology Group performance status.
--	--

QoL is measured with patient-reported and internationally validated questionnaires. The most common are the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy – General (FACT-G), the Edmonton Symptom and Assessment System (ESAS), the Integrated Patient Care Outcome Scale (IPOS), the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ-C30), and the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS). There are also patient-reported and validated questionnaires to assess QoL specifically at the EOL; here, the Quality of Life at the End of Life (QUAL-E) scale is often used.

FACT-G measures health-related QoL in four dimensions according to physical, functional, emotional, and social well-being over the past week, and is designed to assess QoL in patients undergoing cancer treatment [26]. Total score ranges from 0 to 108 points, with higher scores indicating a better QoL. Changes of 4–7 points represent a minimally important difference, while a change of 9–14 points signifies a medium-sized clinically significant effect [27]. Since FACT-G includes questions on symptom control as well as social and emotional well-being, it is hard to separate symptom burden and QoL, which are used interchangeably by researchers [28]. In addition, different disease-specific FACT scales exist tailored to a specific cancer diagnosis; for example, FACT–L for lung cancer patients and FACT-Hep for patients with hepatobiliary cancer.

The ESAS questionnaire assesses the burden of symptoms in PC patients using nine common symptoms: pain, fatigue, nausea, depression, anxiety, drowsiness, appetite, well-being, and shortness of breath. Each item is rated on a scale from 0 to 10, with 0 indicating the absence of symptoms and 10 representing the worst possible intensity, and so 90 is the highest possible total symptom distress score [13].

The IPOS consists of 20 (for patients to answer) or 19 (for proxy-assessment answered by staff) items, including 17 items on physical, psychological, and spiritual problems, communication needs (including with family), and practical support, all scored on a 5point scale from 0 (best) to 4 (worst). There are additionally two free-text items, one asking about the patient's main problems and concerns, and one asking about any symptoms other than those covered by the 17 items. The patient version also includes a question asking by whom the measure was completed (patient alone, with help from family or from medical staff). Only the 17 standardized items contribute to the total IPOS score [29]. In PC, the IPOS is used to follow up on the treatment effects of specific symptoms or to map the presence of symptoms at a first visit.

The EORTC QLQ-C30 assesses health-related QoL in cancer patients over the last 7 days [30]. It includes nine multi-item scales: five functional scales (physical, role, cognitive, emotional, and social), three symptom scales (fatigue, pain, and

nausea/vomiting), and one global health and QoL scale. Each scale is scored from 0 to 100. Higher scores on the functional and global health/QoL scales indicate better functioning and QoL, while higher scores on the symptom scales and single items indicate greater symptom burden.

The QUAL-E scale comprises questions from five domains: life completion (issues of transcendence), relationship with a healthcare provider, symptom management, preparation, and effective social support [31]. It is used to measure QoL at the EOL.

The HADS is another commonly used questionnaire for anxiety and depression. It consists of two subscales, each containing seven items: one subscale screens for anxiety (HADS-A) and the other for depression (HADS-D). Subscale scores range from 0 to 21, with 0 indicating no distress and 21 indicating maximum distress. A score of 7 or lower on either subscale is considered normal, a score of 8–10 indicates mild distress, and a score of 11–21 indicates moderate to severe distress.

Terminology in palliative care

The literature on PC for cancer patients includes a number of descriptive terms that lack consistent and clear definitions, and that are interpreted differently around the globe, such as "supportive care," "best supportive care," "palliative care," "end of life care," and "hospice care". Supportive care, PC, and EOL care encompass clinical initiatives designed to evaluate and address the physical and psychosocial challenges experienced by cancer patients and their families. The care involves multidisciplinary assessments and interventions to manage physical symptoms and address psychosocial distress, all while considering the care environment for patients and their families.

The term "supportive care" originates from the discipline of oncology, and includes treatments and other measures to support patients who are undergoing cancer treatment [28]. The National Cancer Institute defines "palliative care" and "supportive care" synonymously. In contrast, some perceive "palliative care" as addressing the needs of patients with incurable illnesses, while "supportive care" is seen as providing care for patients earlier in the disease trajectory [32]. The interchangeable use of these two terms may lead to confusion when studying the literature and publications [33]. However, the term "best supportive care" most often implies that tumor-directed therapy has been discontinued and the treatment now aims at symptom relief.

The term "hospice care" can be used for care that addresses critical EOL concerns: dying with dignity, dying at the preferred place of death and without pain, and reducing the burden placed on family caregivers [34]. Hospice care focuses on bereavement support and community integration.

Home-based SPC refers to the provision of SPC in the patient's home by a specialist team. There is a lack of controlled clinical trials on how the resources in home-based SPC should be optimally employed for patients with advanced cancer, highlighting a critical research gap that needs to be addressed [35, 36].

1.2.1. Specialized palliative care

Whereas general PC is mainly conducted by family physicians, complex symptom management may require a PC specialist. Of the 90,000 deaths occurring annually in Sweden, it is estimated that 75% of individuals had received general PC while another 11% were enrolled in SPC before death [37]. Studies from the United Kingdom and Canada have found that approximately 25% of dying persons are in need of SPC [38, 39].

Key components

In Sweden, SPC and home-based SPC are generally delivered by a multi-professional team, including doctors, nurses, dieticians, physiotherapists, occupational therapists, psychologists, priests and counselors. Doctors and nurses have recognized specializations in PC [6, 40]. Patients enrolled in SPC are offered consultations and homecare around the clock depending on their requirements, and can be admitted for inpatient care if needed. The SPC team provides advanced medical homecare services such as administering intravenous fluids including antibiotics, nutritional support, and blood products, assessing symptoms, and monitoring pain management and side effects of medications or oncological treatment. Admittance to inpatient care at the SPC ward can be arranged, generally for a shorter period, for symptom management and/or to allow for respite for caregivers at home.

The essential components of SPC are listed below:

- 1. **Symptom management:** It is paramount to maintain effective control of pain and other distressing symptoms such as nausea, shortness of breath, and fatigue. Symptom management often requires pharmacological and nonpharmacological interventions tailored to individual patient needs [41].
- 2. **Psychosocial support:** The SPC team includes psychologists, social workers, and counselors who provide emotional support, facilitate communication among patients, families, and healthcare providers, and assist with decision-making regarding care options, advance care planning, and EOL preferences [42].

- 3. **Spiritual care**: Addressing existential concerns and providing spiritual support is vital to SPC. Priests offer guidance, counseling, and rituals according to patients' spiritual or religious beliefs and preferences [43].
- 4. Advanced care planning: The SPC team encourages discussion about the goals of care and preferences for EOL treatment. This involves helping patients and families to understand the patient's prognosis, clarify values and priorities, and make informed decisions about future medical care [44].
- 5. **Coordination of care**: The SPC team collaborates closely with other healthcare providers involved in the patient's care, including primary care physicians, other specialists, and nurses. The team ensures continuity of care, facilitates transitions between care settings, and optimizes coordination of healthcare services [45].
- 6. **Bereavement support**: The SPC team extends support to families and caregivers both during the patient's illness and after death. Bereavement services may include counseling, support groups, memorial services, and practical assistance with, for example, funeral planning and paperwork [46].
- 7. Education and training: The SPC team provides education and training to healthcare professionals to enhance their knowledge and skills in palliative care delivery. Educational topics include pain management, communication skills, and ethical considerations in EOL care [47].

1.2.2. Navigating end of life oncology treatment decisions and hospital care utilization

Late in a palliative disease trajectory, the prescribing physician must carefully consider factors such as QoL, symptom control, potential life extension, and the associated side effects of tumor-specific palliative CHT. The overarching challenge in oncological treatment is to carefully balance QoL, potential side effects, and the avoidance of futile treatments, ensuring that valuable time is not wasted for the patient. Determining when an oncological treatment becomes futile or even causes more harm than good is a fundamental clinical problem faced by oncologists and other physicians who prescribe tumor-directed therapies [48]. The challenge of accurately estimating life expectancy in terminally ill cancer patients is widely recognized. More often than not, physicians and patients tend to overestimate a patient's remaining lifespan [49, 50].

Patients with advanced cancer on palliative CHT may perceive a "good doctor" to be one who offers hope of life prolongation, as even a short extension of life translates into additional time spent with one's spouse, children, and grandchildren. This perspective and the strong desire to live as long as possible, seen among severely ill cancer patients, are in contrast to the perceptions of healthy individuals, who often take their longevity for granted and prioritize QoL over a longer survival time [51].

However, CHT within the final 30 days before death is deemed futile as it poses a risk of decreasing the QoL at EOL [52, 53]. In addition, ASCO states that the use of CHT in patients when there is no evidence of clinical value is a widespread, wasteful, and unnecessary practice in oncology [54]. However, ASCO also states that treatment for metastatic cancer can be recommended even without an improvement in survival as long as it improves the patient's QoL [55].

Emergency care needs and EOL care patterns and preferences

Patients with advanced cancer, and especially GI cancer, commonly experience symptoms such as pain, nausea, vomiting, bowel obstruction, and cachexia, which if not managed sufficiently may lead to the need for emergency care [56]. Aggressive medical interventions for cancer patients in the final weeks of life, including intravenous CHT, emergency department visits, hospital admissions, and intensive care unit stays, are indicators of poor QoL care near death [57].

Merchant et al. examined the delivery of physician-led PC and its association with EOL care in patients with GI cancer. Aggressive EOL care was defined as CHT use, an emergency department visit, or admission to a hospital or intensive care unit within 30 days of death. Of the 34 630 patients included in this retrospective study, 74% had at least one episode of PC service. Patients who did not receive any PC at all experienced more aggressive EOL care than patients receiving such services. Merchant et al. also found that patients who were enrolled in PC for the longest period of time had the least aggressive EOL care [58]. Henson et al. performed a meta-analysis to determine risk factors for cancer patients visiting the emergency department in the last month of life. The analysis, which included 1 181 842 patients, showed that patients receiving any amount of PC were less likely to visit the emergency department in their last month of life [59]. Wright et al. conducted a prospective cohort study involving 386 patients with advanced cancer and an expected survival of less than 6 months, all of whom had experienced disease progression after at least one CHT regimen [60]. The included patients had a median survival of 4 months, and those under treatment with palliative CHT at the start of the study exhibited a lower likelihood of dying at home compared to those not undergoing CHT (47% vs. 66%).

The preferred place of death is defined as the location where patients wish to spend their final days. A systemic overview from Sweden, performed in 2017, showed that an average of 60% of terminally ill cancer patients would prefer to die at home [61]. A

Danish RCT involving 205 patients with late-stage heart or lung disease, or with advanced cancer, investigated whether discussing the preferred place of death with a physician during an advanced care planning meeting would influence the actual place of death [62]. Among patients who participated in an advanced care-plan discussion, 40% died at home compared to 17% of patients not involved in EOL decision-making (p=0.013).

To end palliative oncological treatment

The lack of reliable prognostic factors, the dilemma physicians face when discussing the termination of palliative oncological therapy, and a willingness from the patient to submit to further toxic side effects in order to prolong life are all factors that can result in giving futile treatments with negative consequences for QoL at the EOL, such as severe side effects and need for hospital care [63].

Silvestri et al. investigated patients' views on the values of palliative CHT via an interview study of 81 patients previously treated with cisplatin-based CHT for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. The aim was to investigate how lung cancer patients valued the trade-off between survival benefits and toxicities of palliative CHT. The survival threshold for accepting CHT varied substantially among the interviewed patients. The median survival criterion for considering CHT was 4.5 months with mild toxicity and 9 months with severe toxicity. A total of 18 patients (22%) said they would choose CHT if it offered a potential survival increase of only 3 months. On the other hand, a larger group comprising 55 patients (68%) said they would choose CHT primarily for its potential to significantly alleviate symptoms, even without a direct extension of life expectancy [64].

The study by Silvestri et al. was not an RCT. However, it highlights the need to individualize the care for patients with advanced cancer, and emphasizes that evidence on effects, survival benefits, and symptom control should be presented to allow patients to make informed decisions on continuing or discontinuing palliative CHT.

1.2.3. Specialized palliative care and timing

There is an ongoing discussion regarding when in the disease trajectory PC should be introduced for patients with advanced cancer. As mentioned, PC has formerly been synonymous with EOL care, and it was common earlier within the medical community, and still, the opinion exists, that tumor-directed treatment should be ended before a referral to PC. Both views are incompatible with the overarching goal of PC, which is to relieve the burden of symptoms for seriously ill patients [65].

American and European oncological societies (ASCO and the European Society for Medical Oncology [ESMO]) have recommended that patients with advanced cancer who are to start oncological therapy should receive integrated PC for management of disease- and treatment-related symptoms in order to improve QoL [66, 67]. The ASCO guidelines also state that early integration of SPC should be initiated within 8 weeks of diagnosis of a stage IV solid tumor or stage ≥III pancreatic or lung cancer. Substantial variation exists in the referral rates to PC units across the United States. A report released by ASCO in 2017 showed that up to 68% of oncologists do not refer their patients to an SPC unit at all, while the remaining 32% do so only within the patient's final month of life [67].

In 2014, Zimmerman et al. investigated the impact of early integration of SPC in the treatment of patients with a wide range of advanced cancers. The results showed that patients referred to early integration of PC had better symptom control after 4 months compared to the controls receiving standard care [45]. In the same cohort of patients, Zimmerman et al. conducted an interview study of patients' views of PC. A total of 48 patients were interviewed about their perception of PC, revealing that these patients had a negative opinion of PC and saw it as being associated with death, hopelessness, and loss of autonomy [68]. One reason for late referral, close to death, is the negative attitude that many patients and families have against PC [69]. In its recommendation on PC for cancer patients, ASCO emphasizes that oncologists should not delay referrals for patients with advanced cancer until EOL.



Figure 2. Illustration of early integration of palliative care (PC). Palliative care is integrated with tumor-specific treatment from the time of diagnosis in patients with advanced cancer. At some point, tumor-specific treatment is halted to focus on symptom-relieving PC.

 Table 2. Summary of primary and secondary outcomes in randomized controlled trials (RCTs) published between 2000 and 2020 on the integration of palliative care (PC) and specialized palliative care (SPC) for patients with advanced cancer. The most commonly used primary outcome was quality of life (Dol) measured 12-23 measured after randomization and conneced to the control around.

	Year Author Type of Number Intervention Print	Type of	Number	Intervention	Primary	Secondary	Survival	Results
		Patients	or Patients		Outcome	Outcome		
Jordhøy et al.	al.	Advanced cancer	434	SPC vs. standard care	Place of death	Inpatient care	Equal	Early PC group died more often at home and spent less time in institutions
Temel et al		Advanced non- small-cell lung cancer	151	Early SPC care vs. standard care	QoL at 12 weeks	Mood and survival	Improved	Early palliative care improved QoL, mood, and survival
Eychmüller et al.	ir et	Advanced cancer	150	A single PC intervention vs. usual care	Patient distress	QoL	Equal	No improvement in patient distress or QoL
Zimmerman et al.	an	Advanced cancer	461	Early SPC vs. standard care	QoL at 12 weeks	QoL at 16 weeks	Not specified	PC improved QoL at 16 weeks but not at 12 weeks
The DanPaCT trial	aCT	Advanced cancer	297	Early SPC vs. standard care	QoL at 8 weeks	Survival	Equal	No difference in QoL
Vanbutsele et al.	e B	Advanced cancer	186	Early SPC vs. standard care	QoL at 12 weeks	Mood	Equal	Improved QoL for the early PC group, but no difference in mood
Scarpi et al.	al.	Advanced gastric cancer	207	Early SPC vs. standard care	QoL at 12 weeks	Mood and survival	Equal	No significant differences in QoL or mood
The PALINT trial	NT	Advanced cancer	126	Early SPC vs. standard care	QoL at 12 and 24 weeks.	Survival	Equal	No significant difference in QoL or mood at 12 and 24 weeks

PC – palliative care; QoL – quality of life; SPC – specialized palliative care.

The first RCT on SPC was published in the Lancet in 2000 by Jordhøy et al. [70]. This Norwegian randomized trial studied patients (n=395) with advanced cancers and an expected survival of 2–9 months. Patients randomized to the active group maintained regular consultations with their community healthcare professionals, but they also had access to a multidisciplinary PC team that coordinated their care, remained available to offer advice, and could participate in home visits. Patients in the control group received conventional oncological care without any contact with the PC team. The main outcomes were differences in place of death (home, nursing home, or hospital) and time spent in different levels of care in the last month of life. Patients in the active group were more likely to die at home (25% vs. 15%) and spent less time in nursing homes in the last month of life compared to patients in the control group. Need for hospital care and number of hospital deaths were similar in the two groups.

In 2010, Temel et al. investigated patients with advanced non-small-cell lung carcinoma randomized to early integration of SPC or not at diagnosis, alongside oncological tumor-specific treatment [71]. The control group received a referral to SPC when deemed necessary. Patients randomized to early integration of SPC had a better QoL 12 weeks after randomization, received less aggressive EOL treatment (CHT within 14 days before death, no hospice care, or admission to hospice ≤ 3 days before death), and had an increased median OS (11.6 vs. 8.9 months) compared to patients assigned to the control group. This study was conducted in the ambulatory setting; patients had to attend a highly specialized institution to receive the SPC consultations, and hence their PS had to be good enough to allow them to travel to this tertiary care center.

In 2014, Zimmerman et al. explored the impact of early integration of SPC in the treatment of patients with a wide range of advanced cancers [45], using the ESAS [72] to assess symptom burden. Patients referred to early integration of PC had better symptom control after 4 months compared to the controls receiving standard care. Temel et al. also investigated differences in symptom control in their trial from 2010, in patients with advanced lung cancer. In the early palliative care group, 16% of the patients had depressive symptoms 12 weeks after randomization compared to 38% of patients in the control group [71].

Vanbutsele et al. randomized patients with advanced solid tumors within 12 weeks of diagnosis and with an estimated life expectancy of 12 months to early integration, or not, of SPC while tumor-specific treatment was given [73]. The control group received standard oncological treatment in a setting where all patients were offered multidisciplinary oncological care by medical specialists, psychologists, social workers, dieticians, and specialist nurses. Patients in the active group received home visits once a month from nurses specialized in SPC. In comparison to the control group, the active
group had a better QoL as assessed with the EORTC QLQ C30 questionnaire at 12 weeks after randomization.

However, some RCTs do not show improved QoL when SPC is integrated early. A Danish RCT (the DanPaCT trial) included patients with advanced cancer, who were randomized between early integration or not of SPC and standard oncological care [74]. This multicenter RCT involved 6 medical centers offering SPC to the active group, with home visits and inpatient consultations. Eight weeks after randomization, the trial showed no improvement in QoL for the active compared to the standard care group. The short follow-up time (8 weeks) and the heterogeneity of cancer diagnoses among the included patients might be reasons for the negative outcome of the study. In 2018, Scarpi et al. conducted a multicenter RCT in patients with advanced gastric cancer. Patients in the active group were referred early to a physician specialized in PC, whereas the control group did not have any appointments with a PC physician unless such contact was requested by the patients, their families, or the treating oncology specialist. Patients randomized to the early referral to a PC specialist had structured meetings with the physician every 2–4 weeks until death. The study revealed no statistically significant differences in QoL between the groups [75].

In 2019, Franciosi et al. reported on a multicenter RCT for patients with advanced cancer comparing the addition of early PC delivered by a specialized physician and nurse with standard oncology care alone; the results demonstrated no significant difference in QoL [76]. The PALINT trial included patients with advanced cancer receiving early integration of SPC with a low-intensity follow-up program with the PC team every 6–8 weeks, while the control group received standard care. No differences in QoL were found between the study groups at 3 and 6 months [77]. Eychmüller et al. found no significant improvement in QoL measured at 2, 4, and 6 months following randomization to a single early consultation with an SPC team compared to standard care in patients with advanced cancer [78].

1.3. Palliative chemotherapy and therapeutic considerations in gastrointestinal cancers.

Gastrointestinal cancers encompass a group of malignancies affecting the digestive system, including the esophagus, stomach, liver, pancreas, biliary tract, colon, rectum, and anus [79]. Despite advances in early detection and treatment options, many patients present with advanced disease at the time of diagnosis, leading to limited curative options and a poor prognosis [80]. Palliative chemotherapy focuses on controlling disease progression and managing associated symptoms such as pain, nausea, and obstruction. By employing cytotoxic drugs (mainly 5FU, irinotecan, taxanes, gemcitabine, and platins) and targeted agents as antibodies against EGFR and VEGF, palliative treatments aim to induce tumor regression, alleviate symptoms, and enhance patients' overall well-being; in other words, the aim is to improve QoL [81].

The overall survival (OS) for patients with pancreatic cancers, considering all stages and all treatments, is 4.6 months [82]. For the minority of patients where macroscopically radical surgery and adjuvant medical treatment is an option, a median OS of 28 months is reported [83]. The decision to initiate palliative chemotherapy must be weighed against potentially serious side effects. Negative prognostic factors, such as a PS of 2 or more, and a high burden of comorbidities can be contraindications for chemotherapy.

For patients with advanced pancreatic cancer, with tumor progress or lack of tolerance on first line (FL) palliative CHT, second line (SL) CHT treatment can be offered. Here, poor PS and comorbidities are even more important to consider in balancing disease control and side effects. Various studies have reported median OS from the start of SL treatment to death ranging from 4.8 to 8.8 months [84-86]. However, the survival advantage of SL treatments remains uncertain, as clinical trials have not consistently demonstrated prolonged OS from any specific SL CHT regimen [87, 88]. Gill et al. observed no survival improvement among patients treated with oxaliplatin plus fluorouracil compared to those receiving fluorouracil monotherapy following progression on FL gemcitabine treatment [89]. Conversely, Oettle et al. found improved OS following disease progression on gemcitabine-based FL treatment among patients with advanced pancreatic cancer [90]. The increased OS was found in patients treated with oxaliplatin plus fluorouracil as SL therapy compared to those who received fluorouracil alone. Similarly, Dadi et al. found that patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer who received SL therapy based on nab-paclitaxel demonstrated improved OS compared to those treated with a non-nab-paclitaxel regimen [91]. This effect was seen subsequent to FL treatment with gemcitabine in monotherapy.

In colorectal cancers, the 5-year OS of 69% [83] by far exceeds that of pancreatic cancer. Local treatments such as ablative treatment including surgery, stereotactic radiotherapy, and radiofrequency treatments of metastatic lesions have contributed to increased survival time for patients with metastasized disease, though this has been shown only for patients with a low number of metastases. Approximately 50–70% of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer undergo SL CHT treatment [92, 93]. A meta-analysis of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer showed an OS of just over 20 months measured from diagnosis [94].

The OS for metastatic esophageal cancer is poor, with a 5-year survival rate of less than 5% [95]. In terms of efficacy, the benefit of combination CHT compared to monotherapy is only marginal, with the increase in duration of disease control and survival typically spanning from weeks to a few months. Numerous studies have demonstrated that monotherapy with paclitaxel or docetaxel for patients with advanced esophageal cancer resulted in response rates ranging from 15% to 24% [96, 97].

Regarding hepatobiliary cancer, there are only a few hepatocellular and biliary cancer treatment options for non-resectable and metastasized cases, and the prognosis is dismal. For these patients, as for patients with GI cancers as a whole, new possibilities have been introduced with immunotherapy agents such as PD 1 and PD L1 inhibitors, although response rates are low [98]. The median OS for patients with advanced biliary tract cancer not receiving tumor-directed therapy is poor, ranging from 2.5 to 4.5 months [99]. Advanced gastric cancer is also associated with a dismal prognosis, with a median OS of about 12 months for those receiving combination CHT and 4 months for those not treated with any tumor-directed therapy [100].

2. Aims of the thesis

The aim of this thesis was to examine the impact of home-based SPC integrated with oncological treatment on QoL, hospitalizations, time between last CHT and death, emergency care utilization, survival, and place of death for patients with advanced GI cancers. Another aim was to evaluate prognostic factors in patients with pancreatic cancer, with special reference to SL palliative CHT.

3. Material and methods

3.2. Articles I and II

Shared features of Articles I and II

Articles I and II both describe retrospective studies of medical records. The studies encompassed patients with histopathologically confirmed pancreatic adenocarcinoma (ICD codes: C25.0–C25.3, C25.7–C25.9) who underwent palliative CHT at the Department of Oncology, Skåne University Hospital, and died during the study period (1 February 2015 to 31 December 2017). A combined cohort of 170 patients with advanced pancreatic cancer treated with palliative CHT was analyzed across the two retrospective studies.

Article I

Patient data, including age, gender, date of diagnosis, and the extent of the disease (local or generalized) at the initial visit to the oncology department and upon tumor progression during FL palliative CHT, were retrieved from the patient's medical record. Additionally, the date of death was recorded. In patients with generalized disease, the number of metastatic sites was assessed, where distant lymph nodes, liver, lungs, skeletal or "other" sites were regarded as different metastatic sites, and survival was analyzed according to 1 or >1 metastatic site. Primary surgery was documented as microscopically radical (R0), macroscopically radical (R1), or not radical (R2).

Data regarding the CHT regimens, the number of treatment cycles of each regimen, the number of lines of palliative CHT, and the day of the last CHT treatment were collected. To qualify as a genuinely adjuvant treatment, the patient had to exhibit no signs of disease at the therapy assessment CT conducted 24 weeks after the last adjuvant treatment. If there was evidence of disease within these 24 weeks, the given treatment was reclassified as FL palliative CHT instead.

Laboratory data were collected on carbohydrate antigen 19-9 (CA 19-9) (U/mL), bilirubin (µmol/L), PS (0–4), serum albumin (g/L), and patient weight (kilograms) at the start of FL palliative CT and at the time of verified radiological progression on that treatment. Upon analysis, albumin was dichotomized as normal if \geq 36 g/L and hypoalbuminemia if lower. Furthermore, CA 19-9 was dichotomized as doubled or not, including only values paired with bilirubin in the normal reference interval (<26 µmol/L). Patients were classified into three weight groups based on the percentage of weight loss: <5%, 5% to <10%, and ≥10%, measured from initiation to completion of FL palliative therapy. Time to progression following FL CHT (in days) was recorded and then dichotomized to ≥100 versus <100 days. Response to treatment was generally evaluated 3 months after initiating therapy with a CT scan.

The aim of Article I was to examine clinical characteristics in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer undergoing palliative CHT, evaluating prognostic factors and survival, with special reference to SL therapy.

3.2.1. Statistics

Given their skewed distribution, descriptive statistics were expressed as median and range for continuous variables and as number (%) for categorical variables. Survival analysis using Kaplan-Meier curves was employed to assess survival over time both in the entire study population and in subgroups. The OS time was defined as the duration between diagnosis and death. Overall survival following SL palliative CHT was measured from the initiation of treatment to death, including only those patients commencing SL treatment due to disease progression on FL palliative CHT and excluding those initiating SL therapy due to toxicity on FL treatment. The log-rank test was applied to examine differences in survival between groups receiving SL palliative CHT.

Article II

Age, gender, date of diagnosis, PS (0–4) at the start of palliative CHT, date of enrollment in PC, and date and place of death were extracted from the records. Overall survival was calculated from the date of pancreatic cancer diagnosis. The extent of the disease, whether localized, generalized, or postoperatively without evidence of remaining tumor, was recorded at the initial visit to the oncologist.

Information was gathered on the frequency of emergency department visits, number of hospitalizations, and the duration of inpatient care in days. If an emergency department visit led to inpatient care, the emergency department visit was not noted as a separate emergency department visit. For patients enrolled in SPC, the duration of their inpatient stay within PC facilities was not categorized as hospitalization, as this in many cases was respite care. Additionally, the date of the final CHT treatment before the date of death was recorded.

The length of time enrolled in SPC was recorded. Patients enrolled for more than 30 days before the date of death were assigned to group A, and those enrolled for 30 days or less (including patients never enrolled in SPC) were assigned to group B.

Statistics

Descriptive statistics were calculated as medians and ranges for continuous variables (due to skewed distribution) and percentages for categorical variables. Kaplan–Meier curves were used to assess OS (defined as time between diagnosis and death) and proximity of CHT treatment to death. [101]. The dataset was stratified into groups A (enrolled in SPC for over 30 days) and B (enrolled for 30 days or less) for analyzing emergency ward visits, inpatient care days, and the interval between the last CHT treatment and death. Place of death was categorized as home, hospital, palliative care ward, or assisted living, with the dataset further subdivided into two new groups for analysis based on admission times in SPC.

3.3. Article III and Manuscript IV

Shared features of Article III and Manuscript IV

Article III and Manuscript IV were based on a prospective RCT known as the ALLAN trial (Swedish acronym for "tidig pALLiativ ANslutning"). Participants were recruited between 18 December 2014 and 29 April 2021 at a tertiary cancer center in the southern Swedish healthcare region. Inclusion required patients to reside within the catchment area of the two primary SPC units, encompassing a population of 0.5 million residents. The final follow-up date for the study was 1 March 2023.

Patients with upper GI cancers (esophageal, gastric, hepatobiliary, and pancreatic cancer) eligible for FL palliative CHT and patients with lower GI cancer (colorectal cancer) eligible for SL palliative CHT were recruited. As patients with colorectal cancer became eligible for SL treatment, they were invited to participate in the study with the anticipation that their survival outcomes would align with those of patients diagnosed with upper GI cancers. Patients accepted were randomized 1:1 to either intervention with early integration of home-based SPC alongside tumor-specific treatment, or tumor-specific treatment alone. Patients assigned to the active arm had scheduled meetings with the SPC team at home within 6 weeks of randomization, followed by at least monthly consultations. In contrast, patients in the control group were not planned for meetings with the SPC team unless specifically referred by the treating oncologist. They remained in the control group for the entirety of the analysis, regardless of whether and when they were eventually referred to SPC. Informed consent was obtained from all participating patients.

Inclusion criteria

The patient-cohort in Article III and Manuscript IV comprised ambulatory adults (>18 years) diagnosed with advanced GI cancer that was confirmed through histological verification. Individuals eligible for palliative CHT as part of their FL treatment for upper GI cancer were invited to join the study. Likewise, those with histologically confirmed advanced lower GI cancers were eligible for enrollment when they became eligible for SL palliative CHT.

Exclusion criteria

Patients with ongoing palliative CHT at randomization (except those with lower GI cancer) were excluded, as were patients already included in SPC. Moreover, patients with neuroendocrine tumors were excluded.

Intervention

The active study group received outpatient tumor-directed treatment at the oncology department and home evaluations by an SPC physician together with a palliative care nurse within 6 weeks of randomization. A multidisciplinary team of dieticians, occupational therapists, counselors, and physiotherapists provided additional support, including home care and the option for inpatient care at the SPC ward if needed. The SPC team delivered advanced homecare services, and an assessment guided by a structured study report was conducted every 6 weeks, covering prognosis, symptom control, anti-tumoral treatment, patients' awareness of their incurable disease, and their ability to live a satisfactory life. During these visits, the IPOS was used for systematic symptom assessment.

In contrast, patients in the control group received tumor-specific therapy and were referred to the SPC team at the discretion of the treating oncologist.

Article III

The aim of Article III was to evaluate the impact of early integration of home-based SPC alongside tumor-specific treatment on QoL assessed at 6, 12, and 24 weeks, as well as at the last evaluation before death, following randomization in the ALLAN trial for patients with GI cancers undergoing FL palliative CHT (esophageal, gastric, hepatobiliary, and pancreatic cancer) or SL CHT (colorectal cancer).

Baseline questionnaires (FACT-G and HADS) were completed by the participants immediately post-randomization, with follow-up assessments conducted every 6±1 weeks until the patient's passing.

Demographic data, including age, gender, diagnosis, enrollment date in SPC, and CHT use, were recorded and extracted from medical records along with PS at the time

of inclusion and the number of contacts, homecare visits, and telephone contacts with the SPC team.

Statistics

To detect a significant difference of 6 points on the FACT-G scale between the active and control groups, each with a standard deviation of 11, a sample size of 108 patients was estimated for 80% power at a 5% significance level. To account for potential dropouts and incorrectly included patients, a total of 124 patients were enrolled in the trial. Patient characteristics at randomization were summarized using absolute and relative frequencies for categorical variables, mean with standard deviation for normally distributed continuous variables, and median with range for non-normal variables.

Differences in FACT-G and HADS scores between the two groups at baseline were evaluated using Welch's t-test. Mean changes in FACT-G, HADS-A, and HADS-D from baseline to weeks 6, 12, 24, and the last assessment were computed and compared using Welch's t-test. The Bonferroni correction was applied to adjust p-values for multiple comparisons. All analyses were conducted on an intention-to-treat basis. Median OS was estimated using the Kaplan-Meier method, with patients alive at the last follow-up (1 March 2023) being censored on that date. Survival in the two arms was compared using a log-rank test.

Manuscript IV

Manuscript IV was also based on the ALLAN cohort of patients. The endpoints of this controlled RCT were differences between the active and control groups in emergency care utilization, place of death, and time between the last palliative CHT treatment and death.

Medical records were analyzed for data on the frequency of emergency department visits, hospitalizations, and the duration of inpatient care in days. Notably, for patients enrolled in SPC, the days spent in the palliative care ward were not categorized as hospital care and therefore were not included in the count. Demographic data as age, gender, cancer diagnosis, enrollment date in SPC, place of death, amount of, and last date of palliative CHT were recorded. Furthermore, data on PS at the time of inclusion and the number of contacts, homecare visits and telephone calls with SPC were extracted from patients' medical records.

The aim was to assess how early integration of home-based SPC alongside tumorspecific treatment influences emergency care utilization, number of hospitalizations and length of in-patient care, place of death, and the time from the last palliative CHT treatment to death in patients with GI cancers undergoing either FL (esophageal, gastric, hepatobiliary, and pancreatic cancer) or SL CHT (colorectal cancer).

Statistics

Numerical data were expressed as medians and ranges, while categorical data were expressed as absolute numbers and percentages. Emergency healthcare usage was compared between the two groups using the Mann-Whitney U test, and boxplots were generated to display the results. The median OS, calculated from the date of inclusion to the last chemotherapy treatment, was estimated using the Kaplan-Meier method. Patients who were alive at the last follow-up (1 March 2023) were censored at that time. Survival rates between the two groups were compared using the log-rank test. The proportion of patients receiving palliative chemotherapy within 30 days before death was compared using the chi-squared test. All statistical analyses were conducted using version 4.2.2 of R.

3.4. Ethical considerations

3.4.1. Articles I and II

Ethical approval for these two retrospective studies was received from the Swedish National Ethics Committee (ref: 2019-01093). No new data were sought beyond the existing data in medical records, and except for the intrusion in these records nothing that could compromise the deceased patients would be brought up. All data was pseudonymized prior to the analysis, with the key held only by the main responsible researcher. Due to the retrospective design and the fact that all patients were already deceased at the time of inclusion, the ethical committee accepted the trial without discussion at one of their meetings. In short, they saw no ethical issues with our retrospective trial.

3.4.2. Article III and Manuscript IV

The ethical dilemma inherent in clinical trials stems from the inequity between individuals who stand to gain from the trial results and those who bear the responsibilities and potential adverse effects associated with participating in the trial [102]. The research subject of early introduction of SPC is relatively new, with previous studies showing promising results in terms of increasing QoL while decreasing futile CHT use close to death [103]. Our intervention, which comprised early integration of

SPC, gave the patients access to SPC, not as a novel treatment but as an existing multiprofessional care, albeit introduced early in the disease trajectory in the present study. The participants, therefore, had no risk of receiving any harmful treatment; however, they still were burdened with issues related to being part of an RCT, such as filling out self-reported questionnaires, the intrusion calls from research nurses, and the extra home visits in accordance with the research protocol.

The ALLAN trial was approved by the Swedish National Ethics Committee (2014-03-18, ref: 2014/118). All patients included in this RCT provided their signed informed consent. A total of six patients, all in the control group, later withdrew consent and were only included in analyses until the date of withdrawal. However, they were included in the survival analysis. Our prospective RCT had several ethical aspects that merited consideration. For example, patients eligible for inclusion had to be informed about their incurable disease and their possible future need for PC on their first visit to the oncologist. Information about having an incurable disease is not always easy to deal with, and may cause distress to the patient. In addition, both patients and healthcare professionals commonly misinterpret PC as EOL care. One can argue that this communication about the palliative situation is truthful and gives patients and families the opportunity to adapt to this reality to make way for advanced care planning and personal arrangements.

4. Results

4.1. Article I

A cohort of 170 patients diagnosed with advanced pancreatic cancer who received palliative CHT at the Department of Oncology, Skåne University Hospital was enrolled in the trial. The median age of these patients was 68 years (range 37–85), and they comprised 90 women and 80 men. Additional patient characteristics are detailed in Table 3. Progression-free survival was \geq 100 days in 102 (60%) of the 170 patients on FL treatment, who were then regarded as responders to FL palliative CHT.

atients' characteristics at first oncology visit	Number of patients (%)
Age, median [min–max]	68 [37–85]
Gender	
Male	80 (47)
Female	90 (53)
Performance status	
0	85 (50.0)
1	70 (41)
2	15 (9)
Extent of disease at start of chemotherapy	
Metastatic	91 (54)
Locally advanced	55 (32)
Postoperative, no macroscopic disease	24 (14)
Pathology report in operated patients (n=30) ^a	
RO	12 (7)
R1	14 (8)
R2	4 (2)
FL chemotherapy ^b	
FLOX	2 (1)
FOLFIRINOX	59 (35)
GEM	88 (52)
GEM/ABRAX	7 (4)
GEM/CAP	14 (8)
Received genuine adjuvant chemotherapy	
Yes	6 (4)

Table 3. Characteristics of the patients in Article I at the first visit to the oncology department and at the start of second-line (SL) treatment after the progression of first line (FL) palliative chemotherapy.

No	164 (96)
Progression-free survival on FL treatment	
<100 days	68 (60)
≥100 days	102 (40)
Reasons for not receiving SL treatment	
Progressive disease and/or poor PS	61 (69)
Death before radiological evaluation	14 (16)
Toxicity	13 (15)
Patients' characteristics at the start of second-line chemotherapy	Number of patients (%)
Age, median [min–max]	64 [37–81]
-	04 [57-81]
Gender	26 (50)
Male Female	36 (50)
	36 (50)
Performance status	21 (20)
0	21 (29)
1	43 (60)
2 Missing value	8 (11)
Missing value	0 (0)
Hypoalbuminemia (<36 g/L)	
Yes	44 (61)
No	20 (28)
Missing value	8 (11)
Weight loss	
<5%	38 (53)
5% to <10%	11 (15)
≥10%	19 (26)
Missing value	4 (6)
Doubled value of CA 19-9	
Yes	30 (42)
No	27 (37)
Missing value/elevated bilirubin	15 (21)
Extent of disease	
Locally advanced	9 (13)
Metastatic	63 (87)
Number of metastatic sites (n=63)	
1 metastatic site	32 (51)
>1 metastatic site	31 (49)
Pathology report in operated patients ^a	
Surgery	17 (23)
RO	6 (8)
R1	8 (11)
R2	3 (4)
No surgery	55 (77)
Received genuine adjuvant chemotherapy	
Yes	2 (3)
No	70 (97)
First line chemotherapy ^b	
FOLFIRINOX	35 (49)
GEM	26 (36)
GEM/ABRAX	2 (3)

GEM/CAP	9 (12)
Second-line chemotherapy ^b	
FLOX	9 (13)
FOLFIRINOX	6 (8)
GEM	19 (26)
GEM/ABRAX	22 (31)
Other	16 (22)

A total of 170 patients started FL palliative chemotherapy, and 72 (42%) patients started SL treatment after progression on FL treatment. Of the 24 patients who started postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy, 6 (25%) were disease-free at the follow-up CT performed 24 weeks after the last (genuine) adjuvant treatment.

^a R0 – resection with clear margins ; R1 – no clear margins, microscopic residual tumor; R2 – macroscopic residual tumor.

^b FOLFIRINOX – oxaliplatin, irinotecan, leucovorin, and fluorouracil; FLOX – 5-fluorouracil, oxaliplatin, and leucovorin; GEM – gemcitabine; GEM/ABRAX – gemcitabine and albumin-bound paclitaxel; GEM/CAP – gemcitabine and capecitabine; Nab-Paclitaxel – albumin-bound paclitaxel.

^cDistant lymph nodes, liver, lungs, skeletal, or "other" sites were regarded as different metastatic sites.

Second-line palliative chemotherapy

Second-line palliative CHT was initiated in 82 patients (48%) following progression (n=72) or side effects (n=10) during FL treatment (Figure 3). The median number of treatment cycles administered in SL therapy was 3 (range: 1-15).



Figure 3. Flowchart of all patients starting first line (FL) chemotherapy. PS – performance status; SL – second-line.

Overall survival

The median OS for the study cohort (n=170) was 11 months (95% CI: 9.2–12).

Time between end of chemotherapy and death

The median duration from the final CHT treatment to death in the whole study cohort was 57 days (range: 3-340), with seven outliers living for \geq 200 days (Figure 4). Chemotherapy was administered within the last month of life for 33 patients (19%) and within the last 14 days of life for 12 patients (7%). No discernible differences in age (<60 years vs. ≥60 years) or gender were observed between patients who received CHT within a month before death and those who did not.



Days between last palliative chemotherapy and death

Figure 4. Kaplan-Meier curve for palliative chemotherapy in the last 30 days of life.

Survival following second-line treatment

The median OS from the initiation of SL treatment was 5.0 months (95% CI: 4.0– 6.1). Patients with locally advanced disease exhibited significantly longer survival compared to those with metastatic disease, with OS of 9.6 months (range: 2.9–20.2) and 4.8 months (95% CI: 3.4–7.3), respectively (p=0.03). The number of metastatic sites did not impact OS; patients with a single location had a median OS of 4.6 months (95% CI: 3.6–7.3), while those with multiple locations had a median OS of 4.9 months (95% CI: 3.4–6.1).

Association between patient-specific data and survival

In univariate analysis, patients with hypoalbuminemia (n=44) at the initiation of SL therapy exhibited a median OS of 3.5 months (95% CI: 3.0-5.4), whereas those with normal albumin levels (n=20) had a median OS of 8.0 months (95% CI: 5.3-11.1) (p=0.009; Figure 5). Furthermore, patients with a PS of 2 (n=8) before starting SL therapy had a median OS of 2.9 months (range: 0.4-9.5), contrasting with 5.3 months for patients with PS 0 (95% CI: 3.5-11.1) and PS 1 (95% CI: 4.0-7.6) (p=0.03; see Figure 6).



Hypoalbuminemia at start of second line treatment

Figure 5. Kaplan-Meier curve comparing patients with and without hypoalbuminemia (albumin <36 g/L) at the start of second-line chemotherapy.



Performance status at start of second line treatment

Figure 6. Kaplan-Meier curve for overall survival in terms of performance status at the start of second-line chemotherapy.

No association was found between the length of progression-free survival following FL therapy and the median OS after SL treatment. Weight loss during FL therapy was not significantly linked to OS, with patients experiencing weight loss of <5%, 5% to <10%, and \geq 10% exhibiting median survival times of 5.5, 5.3, and 4.0 months, respectively (p=0.5). Similarly, there was no noticeable association between survival and the presence or absence of doubling CA 19-9 after FL therapy; the median OS was 6.6 months among patients with doubling CA 19-9 and 3.6 months among those without (p=0.4).

4.2. Article II

The patient cohort in Article II was the same as in Article I; the median age was 68 years (range: 37–85), and 53% (n=90) were women. Additional patient characteristics are detailed in Table 3 and Table 4.

Table 4.	Characteristics	of the	patients in	Article II.
----------	-----------------	--------	-------------	-------------

Variable	Admitted to palliative care for >30 days, n=97	Admitted to palliative care for ≤30 days, n=73
Overall survival in months, median (95% confidence interval)	11.2 (8.6–14.2)	10.9 (8.3–12.0)
Days enrolled in specialized palliative care, median [min, max]	84.0 [31, 675]	13.5 [0, 30] ª
Gender, n (%)		
Male	38 (39.2%)	42 (57.5%)
Female	59 (60.8%)	31 (42.5%)
Age ^b , median [min–max]	67.0 [37–85]	70.0 [45–83]
Extent of disease b, n (%)		
Metastatic	58 (59.8%)	33 (45.2%)
Locally advanced	30 (30.9%)	25 (34.2%)
Radically resected (no macroscopic disease) ^c	9 (9.3%)	15 (20.6%)
Performance status at the start of chemotherapy ^b , n (%)		
0	46 (47.4%)	39 (53.4%)
1	43 (44.3%)	27 (37.0%)
2	8 (8.3%)	7 (9.6%)

^a Patients never admitted to specialized palliative care were excluded from this analysis.

^b Age, extent of disease, and performance status were collected at the first visit to the oncological department.

^c These patients were evaluated for adjuvant chemotherapy.

Of the 170 patients, 151 (89%) were enrolled in SPC, with 97 (57% of 170) enrolled for more than 30 days (group A). Group B (n=73) consisted of 54 patients enrolled in SPC for 30 days or less and the 19 patients who were never enrolled. There was no significant difference in age (over vs. under 65 years) between patients enrolled in SPC or not. The median time of enrollment in SPC before death was 84 days in group A and 13.5 days in group B, excluding the 19 patients who were never enrolled (see Table 4).

Patients in group A lived a median of 73 days (95% CI: 59–89) after the last palliative CHT treatment, whereas patients in group B lived for a median of 44 days (95% CI: 41–55) (p<0.001). Among patients in group A, 12% (n=12) received palliative CHT within the last 30 days of life, and 2% (n=2) received it within the last 14 days. In contrast, in group B, 30% (n=21) received palliative CHT within the last 30 days of life, and 14% (n=10) received it within the last 14 days (see Figure 7).

Days between last palliative chemotherapy treatment and death



Figure 7. Kaplan-Meier curve for chemotherapy in the last 30 days of life.

Patients in group A had a median of two visits to the emergency department (range: 0-9), one hospitalization episode (range: 0-6), and 8 days of inpatient care (range: 0-70). In contrast, patients in group B had a median of one visit to the emergency department (range: 0-15), two hospitalization episodes (range: 1-10), and 17 days of inpatient care (range: 8-93).

Of the 19 patients not referred to SPC, one died at home (5%), 16 died in the hospital (84%), and two (11%) died within an assisted living facility. Of the 151 patients enrolled in SPC, 72 (48%) died at home, three (2%) died in the hospital, 75 (50%) died within the inpatient SPC ward, and one died within an assisted living facility.

Median OS was 11 months (95% CI: 9.2–12) in the entire study group, 11.2 months (95% CI: 8.6–14.2) in group A, 10.9 months (95% CI: 8.3–12.0) in group B, and 10.0 months (95% CI: 7.6–17.7) among the 19 patients never enrolled in SPC.

4.3. Article III and Manuscript IV

Initially, 124 patients were considered for inclusion. However, six were excluded for various reasons: two did not meet the inclusion criteria, one met an exclusion criterion,

one withdrew consent shortly after randomization, one refused randomization to the control group, and one did not sign the informed consent form. Subsequently, 118 patients were randomized, comprising 55 women with a median age of 70 years (range: 45–83) and 63 men with a median age of 74 years (range: 49–85). Six additional patients later withdrew their consent and were only included in the survival analysis. Baseline PS was as follows: PS 0 in 18 (30%) and 26 (45%) patients, PS 1 in 28 (47%) and 21 (36%) patients, and PS 2 in 14 (23%) and 11 (19%) patients in the active study group (n=60) and control group (n=58), respectively. For additional data see Table 5.

Variable	Whole study cohort (n=118)	Active group (n=60)	Control group (n=58)
Age, median [min–max]	71.5 [45–85]	71 [51–83]	72 [45–85]
Female gender, n (%)	55 (46.6)	24 (40.0)	31 (53.4)
Cancer diagnosis, n (%)			
Pancreatic	66 (55.9)	35 (58.3)	31 (53.4)
Hepatobiliary	25 (21.2)	11 (18.3)	14 (24.1)
Gastric	11 (9.3)	7 (11.7)	4 (6.9)
Colorectal	9 (7.6)	4 (6.7)	5 (8.6)
Esophageal	7 (5.9)	3 (5.0)	4 (6.9)
Performance status, n (%) ^a			
0	44 (37.3)	18 (30.0)	26 (44.8)
1	49 (41.5)	28 (46.7)	21 (36.2)
2	25 (21.2)	14 (23.3)	11 (19.0)
Palliative CHT lines, n (%) ^b	(n=112)	(n=60)	(n=52)
0	2 (1.8)	1 (1.7)	1 (1.9)
1	66 (58.9)	34 (56.7)	32 (61.5)
2	27 (24.1)	14 (23.3)	13 (25.0)
3	17 (15.2)	11 (18.3)	6 (11.5)
Anticancer therapy, n (%) ^c	(n=110)	(n=59)	(n=51)
Nab-paclitaxel/gemcitabine	25 (22.7)	14 (23.7)	11 (21.6)
FOLFIRINOX	24 (21.8)	12 (20.3)	12 (23.5)
Gemcitabine	24 (21.8)	13 (22.0)	11 (21.6)
Combination CHT	14 (12.7)	8 (13.6)	6 (11.8)
FOLFOX	12 (10.9)	8 (13.6)	4 (7.8)
GEMOX	8 (7.3)	2 (3.4)	6 (11.8)
Single-agent CHT	3 (2.7)	2(3.4)	1 (2.0)
Number of CHT cycles, median [range]	6.0 [0.0, 34.0]	6.0 [0.0, 34.0]	6.0 [0.0, 33.0]
	(n=118)	(n=60)	(n=58)

Table 5. Baseline characteristics of the patients in Article III and Manuscript IV, including specialized palliative care use and overall survival.

Baseline FACT-G, mean (SD) ^d	71.3 (14.8)	70.2 (14.9)	72.4 (14.9)
Baseline HADS-A, mean (SD) ^e	5.8 (3.8)	5.1 (3.4)	6.5 (4.0)
Baseline HADS-A, n (%)			
Normal (0–7)	80 (71.4)	43 (76.8)	37 (66.1)
Mild (8–10)	17 (15.2)	8 (14.3)	9 (16.1)
Moderate/severe (11–21)	15 (13.4)	5 (8.9)	10 (17.9)
Baseline HADS-D, mean (SD)	6.2 (2.8)	6.0 (2.7)	6.4 (2.9)
Baseline HADS-D, n (%)			
Normal (0–7)	82 (73.2)	43 (76.8)	39 (69.6)
Mild (8–10)	19 (17.0)	9 (16.1)	10 (17.9)
Moderate/severe (11–21)	11 (9.8)	4 (7.1)	7 (12.5)
Days enrolled in SPC, median [range]		167 [4, 987]	39 [0, 1152]
Assessments by SPC, median [range]			
Physician		10 [1, 34]	2 [0, 24]
Nurse		36 [0, 330]	13 [0, 210]
Telephone		22 [0, 79]	4 [0, 135]
Survival in months, median (95% CI)	7.6 (6.0–10.2)	6.6 (4.9–10.7)	8.7 (6.5–12.2)

FOLFIRINOX – oxaliplatin, irinotecan, leucovorin, and fluorouracil; FOLFOX – 5-fluorouracil, oxaliplatin, and leucovorin; GEMOX – gemcitabine and oxaliplatin; Nab-paclitaxel – albumin-bound paclitaxel.

^a WHO performance status of 0 indicates that the patient is asymptomatic, 1 that the patient is symptomatic but fully ambulatory, and 2 that the patient is symptomatic and in bed less than 50% of the day.

^b Six patients withdrew consent and are excluded from this analysis.

^c Two patients did not start palliative chemotherapy, and six patients withdrew consent and are excluded from this analysis.

^d Quality of life (QoL) was evaluated with the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General (FACT-G) questionnaire, measuring health-related QoL in four dimensions according to physical, functional, emotional, and social well-being over the past week. The total FACT-G score ranges from 0 to 108 points, with a higher score indicating better QoL.

^e Mood was assessed with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS). The patient-reported HADS questionnaire has two subscales of seven items each, screening for anxiety (HADS-A) and depression (HADS-D). Subscale scores range from 0, indicating no distress, to 21, indicating maximum distress. A score of 7 or lower on either HADS subscale is considered to be normal; 8–10 points indicate mild distress, and 11–21 points indicate moderate to severe distress.

The cancer diagnoses were evenly distributed between the two patient groups, see Table 5.

Quality of life

The baseline total scoring of FACT-G at randomization did not show any significant difference between the study groups. At weeks 6, 12, 24, and the last assessment before death, there were 108, 97, 68, and 112 patients alive, respectively, with corresponding response rates on the FACT-G questionnaire of 91.7%, 86.6%, 79.4%, and 60.7%, respectively.

When examining the mean total change in FACT-G score compared to baseline, the difference in this change between patients assigned to early integration of SPC and controls was 5.2 points (95% CI: -0.1-10.5, p=0.216) at week 6, 6.7 points (95% CI: 0.2-13.3, p=0.172) at week 12, and 13 points (95% CI: 5.7-20.2, p=0.004) at week 24, with all numerical differences favoring the early-integration group. At the last assessment, which occurred a median of 4.1 weeks (range 0.4-6.7 weeks) before death, the difference between the two groups regarding the mean change in FACT-G score was 3 points (95% CI: -4-9.9, p=1.0) (Figure 8 and Table 6).

The mean total FACT-G scores in the active and control groups at weeks 0, 6, 12, and 24, and at the last assessment were 70.2 versus 72.4 points, 74.4 versus 71.5 points, 77.2 versus 73.2 points, 82.6 versus 72.4 points, and 65.9 versus 61.9 points, respectively.

Baseline HADS at randomization did not differ between the study groups. There were no statistically significant differences in mean change in HADS-A/HADS-D from baseline to any of the measurement points in weeks 6, 12, 24, and at the last assessment before death (Tables 4 and 5).



Figure 8. Boxplot of total FACT-G score in the active and control groups at baseline, weeks 6, 12, and 24, and the last assessment before death. The interquartile range covers 25%–75% of the patients at each measurement point, while the whiskers represent 1.5 times the interquartile range. Any markings outside these whiskers are considered outliers. The last assessment before death occurred a median of 4.1 weeks (range: 0.4–6.7 weeks) prior to death.

Table 6. Changes in Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General (FACT-G) and Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) scores from baseline to weeks 6, 12, and 24, and the last assessment before death.

Outcome	Week	Mean change, active group	Mean change, control group	Difference (95% CI)	p-value
FACT-G	6	3.6	-1.5	5.2 (-0.1 – 10.5)	0.216
	12	5.9	-0.9	6.7 (0.2 – 13.3)	0.172
	24	10.8	-2.2	13 (5.7 – 20.2)	0.004
	Last	-6.7	-9.7	3 (-4 – 9.9)	1.000
HADS-A	6	-1.3	-0.5	-0.9 (-2.1 – 0.4)	0.728
	12	-0.7	-0.9	0.2 (-1.1 – 1.5)	1.000
	24	-1.4	-1.1	-0.3 (-2.6 – 1.9)	1.000
	Last	0.5	-0.3	0.8 (-1.1 – 2.7)	1.000
HADS-D	6	-0.3	0.2	-0.5 (-1.5 – 0.6)	1.000
	12	-0.3	0.3	-0.6 (-1.8 – 0.6)	1.000
	24	-0.8	0.4	-1.2 (-2.6 – 0.3)	0.472
	Last	2.0	0.7	1.4 (-0.4 – 3.2)	0.520

Bonferroni correction was used for each outcome to adjust the p-values for multiple comparisons, and so these values are already multiplied by four. The last assessment before death was made a median of 4.1 weeks (range: 0.4–6.7 weeks) before death.

The FACT-G questionnaire evaluates quality of life (QoL), with a higher score indicating better QoL. The HADS questionnaire assesses mood on two subscales, one for anxiety (HADS-A) and one for depression (HADS-D). Scores range from 0, indicating no distress, to 21, indicating maximum distress.

Specialized palliative care

The median time of enrollment in SPC was 167 days (range: 4-987) in the active group and 39 days (range: 0-1152) in the control group. Among the 58 patients in the control group, 50 (86%) were referred to SPC at some point during the disease trajectory.

In terms of homecare visits, the active group had a median of 10 visits (range: 1–34) from an SPC team physician, 36 visits (range: 0–330) from an SPC nurse or other healthcare professional, and 22 telephone calls (range: 0–79) with any healthcare professional. In comparison, the control group had a median of 2 visits (range: 0–24) from an SPC team physician, 13 visits (range: 0–210) from an SPC nurse or other healthcare professional, and four telephone calls (range: 0–135) with any healthcare professional.

The active and control groups received a median of 6.0 cycles of palliative CHT (0–34 and 0–33, respectively) (Table 5).

Emergency ward visits and the need for inpatient hospital care

Patients in the active study group had a median of one visit to the emergency department (range 0–6) and a median of one hospitalization episode (range: 0–5), and stayed in the hospital for a median of 1.5 days (range: 0–30). In contrast, patients in the control group utilized significantly more emergency and inpatient hospital care. Specifically, patients in the control group had a median of three visits to the emergency department (range: 0–11) and a median of two hospitalization episodes (range: 0–8), and spent a median of 11.5 days in the hospital (range: 0–33) (p<0.001) (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Boxplots showing emergency care use and inpatient care.

A) Numbers of emergency department visits in the two study groups.

B) Numbers of hospitalization episodes in the two study groups

C) Numbers of days of inpatient care in the two study groups.

The interquartile range represents 25%–75% of the patients at each measuring point, the whiskers represent 1.5 times the interquartile range, and the markings outside are outliers.

Chemotherapy treatment close to death

No statistically significant difference between the two groups was observed regarding the time from the last CHT treatment to death. Patients in the active study group survived a median of 48 days (95% CI: 33–58) from their last CHT treatment, compared to 69 days (95% CI: 47–109) for those in the control group (p=0.053). Moreover, 33% of patients in the active group received palliative CHT within the last 30 days of life, compared to 22% in the control group (p=0.28).

Place of death

At the end of the study, 58 out of 60 patients in the active group had died. Of these, 40% (n=23) died at home, 57% (n=33) died in the inpatient SPC ward, and 3% (n=2) died in the hospital. In the control group, 51 patients had died and six others had withdrawn their consent. Of the deceased, 41% (n=21) died at home, 45% (n=23) died in the inpatient SPC ward, 12% (n=6) died in the hospital, and 2% (n=1) died in an assisted living facility. Among the eight patients in the control group who were never referred to SPC, 75% (n=6) died in the hospital and 25% (n=2) died at home.

Overall survival

Three patients were still alive at the time of analysis. No statistically significant differences in OS were found between the study groups. The median OS for the cohort of 118 patients was 7.6 months (95% CI: 6.0-10.2). In the active study group, the median OS was 6.6 months (95% CI: 4.9-10.7) versus 8.7 months (95% CI: 6.5-12.2) in the control group (p=0.675).

5. Discussion

Our results show the beneficial impact on QoL from early integration of home-based SPC in patients with advanced GI cancers. This is in concordance with earlier studies regarding the advantages of integrating SPC at an earlier stage compared to the conventional practice of introducing PC during the later phases of the disease trajectory; that is, close to the EOL. The findings consistently demonstrate positive impacts on patient-reported outcomes, specifically improvements in QoL and mood, observed around 3–4 months after receiving a diagnosis of advanced cancer [45, 71, 104-106]. Timely integration of SPC in patients with advanced GI cancer allows for a more proactive approach that might lead to better symptom control, psychological support, and improved QoL, compared to patients referred to SPC close to death. Early integration gives time for discussion with patients and families on priorities and preferences, and allows patients to make informed decisions on therapy strategies, such as when to discontinue CHT.

We failed to find any differences between the study groups regarding QoL as measured with FACT-G at the last assessment before death. This was not a primary endpoint, and the negative result could be attributed to several factors. There was a wide variation in the timing of the last assessment before death (0.4–6.7 weeks), which may have influenced the observed outcomes, and nearly all patients in the control group were admitted to SPC at some point during the disease trajectory, thus receiving specialized supportive care close to death.

In contrast, Vanbutsele et al. evaluated QoL at the EOL in patients with advanced cancer, all with an estimated survival of 12 months, and randomized to early integration of SPC or standard of care with referral to SPC when needed. In this trial, QoL was assessed using the EORTC QLQ-C30 questionnaire, and the authors found a better QoL 1, 3, and 6 months before death in the SPC group compared to patients assigned to standard of care [107]. Zimmerman et al. also examined QoL at the EOL in patients with advanced cancer, using the QUAL-E scale measured at baseline and monthly for 4 months [45]. At inclusion, oncologists chose patients with advanced cancers with an estimated survival of 6–24 months. The active group received at least monthly assessments from the palliative team, and the control group received standard care with

a referral to PC when deemed needed. Patients randomized to early integration of PC demonstrated improved QoL at 12 and 16 weeks post-randomization compared to the standard care group. Zimmerman et al. did not report the patient cohort's median OS, and so it is not clear whether a prognosis of 6–24 months at inclusion can be considered EOL.

A patient's perceived QoL is highly personal, and individual preferences and values must be taken into consideration. While PC is frequently linked to the concept of QoL, it is crucial not to overlook the significance of life prolongation. Life prolongation *per* se may be of importance for a patient within their overall QoL, as the persistent threat of death can render even a modest life extension highly valuable [108]. Conversely, other patients may prioritize a better QoL over longevity, preferring to avoid aggressive treatments that may worsen their overall well-being. The ethical principle of beneficence involves acting in the patient's best interest, which includes relieving suffering. Non-maleficence, or "do no harm", suggests that treatments should not add to the patient's burden of symptoms. Shared decision-making between patients and healthcare providers should ensure that treatment goals are aligned with the patient's values. Ideally, advance care planning discussions should occur to empower patients and their families to make informed and well-grounded treatment decisions. Additionally, when treating a patient at the EOL with uncontrolled symptoms and significant suffering, it is unethical to continue life-prolonging treatments such as nutritional support and intravenous antibiotics. These treatments may extend the patient's suffering rather than to improve their QoL [49, 109].

When is the integration of SPC timely?

Nearly 90% of the patients in the ALLAN control group was admitted to SPC at some point, with a median enrolment duration of 39 days (ranging from 0 to 1152 days). The analysis showed that 39 days in SPC was insufficient to abolish the difference in QoL between the two randomization groups.

Previous RCTs have demonstrated an improvement in QoL when PC is initiated early, specifically 12–24 weeks after randomization to SPC, compared to control groups receiving standard of care with SPC introduced late in the disease trajectory or not at all. Zimmerman et al. did not manage to find a statistically significant improvement in QoL, compared to controls, at 12 weeks in their group of advanced cancer patients subjected to early integration of SPC. However, 16 weeks of SPC produced a statistically significant improvement in QoL, compared to the control group receiving standard of care [45].

A European study from 2016 investigated the impact on QoL and symptom burden in patients with inoperable pancreatic cancer receiving early SPC versus SPC when deemed necessary by the patient, their family, or the treating oncologist. The active group met with the SPC team a median of 9 times versus 4 times in the standard care group. Three months after randomization, the active group had better QoL than the control group, with a score of 120 points versus 113 points on the FACT-Hep scale, which has a maximum score of 180 points [106].

Emergency care utilization, hospitalization, and chemotherapy close to death

Intense medical actions performed in the final weeks of life, including emergency room visits and hospitalization in critical care units, are generally considered indicators of poor quality of care [57, 110]. In Manuscript IV, we analyzed data from ALLAN with a focus on the early integration of SPC and potential effects on emergency care utilization, palliative CHT use close to death, and place of death. We found decreased emergency healthcare utilization for patients with advanced GI cancer randomized to early integration of SPC, compared to patients in the control group who only received SPC when deemed necessary by the treating oncologist, patient, or their family. The differences in emergency care utilization were statistically significant (p=<0.001), with the control group spending 10 more days as inpatients than patients in the active group.

These findings on lesser emergency care utilization and hospitalizations in the active group of the ALLAN study are corroborated by others. A retrospective cohort study by Hui et al. from 2014 examined whether the timing of referral to PC was associated with the quality of EOL care among 366 patients who had a palliative consultation before dying of advanced cancer. The material was divided into patients who were referred to PC more than 3 months before death and those who were referred closer to death. Patients enrolled in PC for a more extended period had fewer emergency department visits (39% vs. 68%), experienced fewer hospitalizations during the last 30 days of life (48% vs. 81%), and died less often at a hospital (17% vs. 31%) compared with patients enrolled in PC 3 months or less before death [111].

Hospitalizations, including emergency care visits, often include diagnostic procedures such as imaging and excessive blood sampling. These actions can be regarded as futile given the patient's medical situation, and may thus contribute to poorer quality of death for patients near the EOL. As mentioned in the introduction, these "hidden toxicities" (as futile imaging and blood sampling) add to the burden of symptoms for patients with an advanced cancer in a palliative situation [20].

Cochrane reviews from 2013 and 2021 showed inconclusive evidence regarding the impact of home-based PC on QoL, but patients had a higher probability of dying at

home compared to patients subjected to standard of care [36, 112]. We, on the other hand, did not find any difference in the place of death between the two groups in the ALLAN trial. It must be borne in mind that all ALLAN patients except eight were admitted to SPC at some point. Of the eight never admitted, six died at a hospital, and the remaining two died at home or in assisted living.

Spending inpatient time with an advanced disease and with a poor prognosis is often associated with negative effects that contribute to a perceived poor quality of death. These effects include disruption of personal relationships and familiar surroundings, medical interventions and aggressive treatments without any positive consequences for the patient, exposure to unknown staff, and busy hospital surroundings that are poorly fitted for the patient near EOL. With less hospital care, the active group was treated by the familiar staff in the SPC team, providing a patient-centered home-based care plan

We found in the retrospective study that 19% of the patients with advanced pancreatic cancer received palliative CHT in their last month of life [113]. These findings align with those of other studies involving patients with solid tumors undergoing palliative CHT, suggesting a potential overuse of CHT [49]. Administered CHT within the last 30 days of life is generally regarded as futile, carrying a risk of diminishing QoL as patients approach death, and might be associated with intense medical care, such as cardiopulmonary resuscitation or mechanical ventilation, and delayed hospice referrals for patients [52, 60].

In Article II, we further found that patients who were enrolled in SPC for more than 30 days (group A) experienced a longer interval between their last palliative CHT treatment and death compared to those with less or no time enrolled in SPC (group B). However, no difference in OS from date of diagnosis was seen between the two cohorts. Patients in group B utilized more emergency healthcare compared to patients in group A. Also, patients never admitted to SPC were more likely to die in the hospital than patients ever admitted to SPC.

In the prospective ALLAN trial, where 56% of the participants had pancreatic cancer, we did not find any statistically significant differences in time between the last palliative CHT treatment and death. The active group received palliative CHT a median of 48 days before death, compared to 69 days in the control group (p=0.053). This is in contrast to the findings of Greer et al. regarding patients with NSCLC, where those randomized to early PC had half the odds of receiving intravenous CHT during the final 2 months of life compared to the group randomized to standard oncological care alone [114]. The numerical difference and the nearly significant p-value in the ALLAN trial may suggest that patients in the active group underwent palliative CHT closer to death. The SPC team's comprehensive symptom management and supportive care

likely contributed to the sustained and improved functional status observed in the active group. As a result, we hypothesize that these patients could have been considered suitable for palliative CHT for a longer period of time than those in the control group, which may explain the shorter interval between the last CHT treatment and death in the active group.

The previously discussed trial by Temel et al. revealed a statistically significant gain in OS for patients randomized to early integration of SPC, with an OS of 11.6 months versus 8.9 months compared to patients randomized to standard of care (p=0.02) [71]. Similarly, in the ENABLE II study, patients with advanced cancer who were randomized to early PC plus a comprehensive educational program had significantly higher 1-year survival rates than those who received usual oncological care (63% vs. 48%, p=0.038) [104]. On the other hand, a meta-analysis including seven RCTs, pooling 2184 patients, showed no association between PC and improved survival [115]. Overall, the survival benefit of integrating SPC early in patients with advanced cancer is unclear, and there is a need for more studies with similar methodological approaches. The ALLAN trial saw no statistically significant differences in OS (6.6 months in the active group vs. 8.7 months in the control group, p=0.675), adding to the growing body of evidence that SPC does not improve or reduce survival.

There is an inherent contradiction in discussing advanced care planning while simultaneously initiating tumor-specific treatment, as the treatment often sparks hope in the patient for a positive response. Furthermore, medical professionals and patients are reluctant to refer and to be referred to PC [116], with the underlying misinterpretation of this being equal to EOL care. Emerging therapeutic methods in oncology show promise in yielding positive outcomes for severely ill cancer patients. These approaches also bring forth new challenges in terms of prognosis, as individuals who were previously ineligible for treatment with CHT owing to factors such as age or comorbidities may now be assessed as treatable with the new toxicity profiles of these therapies [117]. Despite this, novel treatment opportunities with targeted therapies and immunotherapies show promising results, but possible treatment benefits must again be balanced against the adverse effects [118]. Treatment suggestions should, therefore, be firmly grounded, emphasizing the necessity for strong prognostic indicators. These factors are essential to facilitate informed discussions regarding palliative treatment and to establish realistic expectations from the patient and the treating physician.

Intensity of care

Patients in the ALLAN trial was provided with high-intensity home-based SPC, which is resource-demanding. Scaling this up to the full number of patients who could benefit would be challenging for the healthcare system.

Of all SPC conducted in Sweden, 73% is home-based, 15% is hospice-based, and 12% is hospital-based. Additionally, the proportion of patients receiving SPC varies geographically; in terms of having any contact at all with the SPC team, this proportion ranges from 10.5% (Västernorrland) to 25.8% (Gotland) [119]. There is no national coordination of how SPC is to be arranged, such as within homecare or provided by hospital-based consultation teams, and access varies, resulting in inequality within the country.

As mentioned earlier, ASCO recommends that an integration between oncological care and PC should take place within 8 weeks of a diagnosis of advanced cancer. This recommendation has little in common with the present clinical situation and workforce, as in the United States, where it is estimated that an additional 6 000– 10 000 PC specialists would be required to be able to follow the ASCO guidelines [120].

Thus, there is a need for further studies on how to customize PC for optimal utilization of the components of care. Eychmüller et al. found no significant improvement in QoL at 2, 4, and 6 months following randomization to a single early consultation with an SPC team compared to standard of care in patients with advanced cancer [78]. This indicates that a single palliative intervention is not sufficient to improve QoL throughout the disease trajectory. The DanPaCT randomized trial of early integration of palliative care showed no improvement in QoL, indicating that an 8-week follow-up is too short to improve QoL in patients with advanced cancers [74].

Previous studies regarding the early integration of PC have included patients with different diagnoses, and exhibited eclectic patterns and intensity of PC care. Some patients received around-the-clock home-based SPC, while others received palliative consultations at a clinic or had their consultations by telemedicine, and most studies have reported positive results regarding QoL as a single-point measurement [71, 74, 103, 121]. There is currently a range of delivery modes and intensities of care, with most patients internationally seen at multidisciplinary hospital-based outpatient clinics (predominantly in the United States, Australia, and Italy) [122].

Intense PC for patients with serious illnesses inevitably comes with costs. We have shown a decreased utilization of hospital resources, but no healthcare cost analysis has yet been performed on the ALLAN trial. In a Canadian retrospective study of 144 306 patients who had died from cancer, healthcare costs were analyzed according to whether the patient received early integration of PC or not. In the last month of life, patients who had received early PC exhibited lower overall healthcare costs compared to patients without PC. The reduction in costs was primarily through reduced costs of hospitalizations [123].

Selection of patients to early palliative care

Today, patients are generally referred to the SPC team because of a short expected time of survival, not primarily because of symptom severity [124, 125]. However, we propose that a high symptom burden should be the primary factor triggering a referral to SPC.

A randomized cross-over study conducted by Kim et al. revealed that patients (under 70 years of age) newly diagnosed with metastatic pancreatic cancer experienced an enhanced QoL following 16 weeks of outpatient SPC compared to their baseline levels [126]. Moreover, Kim et al. found that patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer exhibited lower QoL scores at baseline compared to those with locally advanced disease. The improvement, with a decrease in the total symptom distress score (evaluated using ESAS), was observed solely in patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer. Rodin et al. conducted a secondary analysis of the RCT conducted by Zimmerman et al. in 2014 [45], with early integration of PC in a group of patients with stage IV cancers. The results showed that independent of diagnosis, an improvement in QoL at 4 months was only seen in patients with a high burden of symptoms at baseline [127].

These findings by Kim et al. and Rodin et al. suggest the potential for selecting patients for early integration of SPC based on the severity of symptoms. The studies presented in this thesis included patients with GI cancers, who comprise a group of patients that are regarded as having a high burden of symptoms in the palliative situation [59, 128]. Thus, assessing the burden of symptoms may be one way to select patients for referral to early SPC, with the goal of identifying patients who would benefit the most from early multi-disciplinary palliative interventions [121]. As in the ALLAN trial [129], the symptom burden can be measured using the FACT-G questionnaire. In concordance, Hui et al. have proposed a framework for when and to whom PC should be introduced. This framework proposes routine systematic screening of supportive care needs, consensus referral criteria, timely triage, and targeted services to ensure that PC services focus on the patients with the highest need [41].

In Article I, we identified possible prognostic factors linked to inferior chances of any gains from SL palliative CHT for patients with pancreatic cancer. These factors, comprising a PS of ≥ 2 and hypoalbuminemia, are straightforward clinical assessments. This prognostic information could be incorporated into the considerations when discussing referral to SPC in addition to informed treatment planning discussions with the patients [113]. We anticipate that additional prognostic factors will be identified that can aid doctors and patients in deciding whether to refer patients to PC.

In summary, early integration of SPC in patients with advanced GI cancers can enhance QoL by providing better symptom control and psychological support. However, the timing and intensity of SPC are crucial, as a short duration may not yield the full benefits. Personalized care that aligns with patient values and ethical considerations is essential, and further research is needed to optimize the delivery and impact of SPC in improving patient outcomes at the end of life.

> I'm the one that's got to die when it's time for me to die, so let me live my life the way I want to.

> > Jimi Hendrix, "If 6 Was 9"

6. Conclusion

This thesis strengthens the argument for early integration of home-based SPC with tumor-specific treatment in patients with advanced GI cancers. We found an improved QoL 24 weeks following admission to SPC, and a significant reduction in usage of emergency healthcare services and inpatient care for patients with advanced GI cancer after randomization to early integration of SPC. A longer time of enrollment was of importance for the improvement of QoL and decreased hospital care utilization.

7. Future perspectives

There is still insufficient knowledge of which component(s) of PC or SPC lead to the improved QoL seen in the RCTs on integrating PC with oncological treatment. Several questions remain; for example, whether patients provided with home-based SPC benefit the most regarding QoL, and whether the multi-professional structure of the SPC team is fundamental for its success.

We hypothesize that an "ALLAN 2.0" study could include patients with advanced cancers using a cross-over design based on symptom burden. Patients with a high symptom burden, identified using the FACT-G questionnaire, should be enrolled in SPC. Once symptom control is achieved, these patients could transition from an intensive, home-based follow-up to a consultation program. The consultation program would include follow-ups by telephone as needed, initiated by the patient, with the SPC team available to adjust medications or allow the patient to re-enter the home-based program based on a FACT-G score indicating high symptom burden. Some patients will continue deteriorating after SPC enrollment and remain in the home-based program. Others may be on the consultation list for months, enabling SPC to accommodate more patients with advanced illnesses. This approach is ethically preferable to providing continuous home-based SPC to patients after symptom control, while other patients with high symptom burden receive general PC and lack access to inpatient PC and PC specialists.

SPC is predominantly home-based in Sweden, while larger units also operate outpatient clinics. Internationally, only a few RCTs have been performed in the home-based setting of SPC [112], and, as mentioned, there is an ongoing discussion on how to optimally provide SPC and how the expertise of the multi-professional SPC team is best utilized. Several models are seen as hospital-based SPC teams provide consultations for in-patients, outpatient clinics, and home-based care. The timely implementation, with patients included in one or more models depending on their present requirements, needs to be studied and defined

Caregivers represent another key area of unmet need in SPC. There is little caregiverfocused work in the present PC literature, yet many reasons exist to think that caregivers have unique needs requiring novel solutions. Our randomized controlled ALLAN trial
collected data on the patient's next of kin regarding QoL and sick leave rate, with a follow-up a year after the patient's death. We hypothesize that the next of kin in the active group would be less burdened by responsibilities, worries, and navigating the healthcare system and that they would be able to maintain their everyday life less burdened than the corresponding next of kin in the control group. These data remain to be analyzed.

The term "palliative care" may convey the misconception that only patients in the very advanced and/or terminal stages of illness are eligible for enrollment in SPC. Remembering the definitions of palliative care by WHO and IAHPC, presented at the beginning of this thesis, PC is not exclusively for patients in a palliative situation but applicable to all patients with a high burden of symptoms. Thus, patients undergoing aggressive cancer treatments with toxic side effects could gain much from the support of an SPC team. Effectively managing these side effects at home, with antibiotics, pain treatment, nutritional support, etc, would lessen the need for emergency ward visits and hospitalizations. Whether the treatment's intent is curative, symptom palliation, or prolonging survival, the focus should be on treating patients with a high symptom burden.

> Ju mer man tänker desto mer inser man att det inte finns något enkelt svar Nalle Puh

7. Acknowledgements

Att bilda familj, bygga hus, utveckla någon slags karriär och doktorera samtidigt är inget man gör på egen hand. Mitt specialiserade palliativa team av personer med olika kompetenser består av:

Mina forskningshandledare! Eva som är en allvetande, påläst och allmänt underbar människa, doktor och vän. Under hela min studietid har du gett konstruktiv och bra kritik bladat med glada tillrop. Mikael är en excellent handledare, klinisk inspiratör, vän och klistret i vår forskningsgrupp. Dessutom är du en av Europas (man får uttrycka sig lite ödmjukt) mest pålästa forskare inom tidig palliativ anslutning. Tillsammans har vi (Eva, Mikael och jag) arbetat tätt ihop och rott vår kära ALLAN i land. Utöver det har vi planerat husbygge, varit på Karlskrona-weekends, forskat i Vikhög, köpt konst, varit på spa, haft otaliga teams-möten, blivit refuserade, provat viner, publicerat artiklar, ätit middagar, och haft det allmänt underbart. Ni är så starkt sammanflätade att det blir svårt att skilja mellan era goda egenskaper. Ett hårt arbete och många otaliga timmar har ni lagt ner på mig, tack!

Utöver det har Jakob varit med som ämnesexpert (gastrointestinal cancer), inkluderat flest patienter i ALLAN-studien, påmint onkologer att inkludera, skrivit en manual över hur man faktiskt ska skriva en vetenskaplig diskussion och alltid ställt upp vid frågor. Tack!

Mina första handledare och kära föräldrar Kerstin och Jörgen. De har fixat och donar fortfarande så att livet går ihop. Min kloka mor har anammat sin egen mors (Edit Faming) livssanning "Är man förälder så är man förhoppningsvis det tills man dör". Med detta citat i ryggen har farmor och farfar fått rycka in som barnvakter och sällskap både nu och då. Tack!

Min vän, flickvän, mamma till våra barn och numera hustru Christina. Tänk vilken tur att jag träffade en av världens snällaste människor. Vi gör allt tillsammans och du har utvecklat mig från "Ekström, snabbt och snett" till "Bojesson, rakt och rätt"... typ.

Elliot (6 år) och Ester (4 år) för att ni är så goa och tydliggör vad som är viktigast i livet – ni.

Mina syskon Magnus och Anna (med familjer) som alltid låtit mig få vara med, fastän jag är så liten.

Svärföräldrarna Ingegerd och Ingvar för glada tillrop, husrum, språklektioner, barnvakt och för alla fina resor vi gjort och kommer att göra. Svåger Erik för inspirationen att man alltid kan hålla på med fler tillhyggessporter.

Det filosofiska rummet som äger rum samtliga söndagar mellan kl. 20.15–23.30. Ni vet vilka ni är!

Team Tatra och dess eminenta ordförande Doktor, Doktor (sic!) Per Otto Hagerman.

Fridolf och Max för livsinspiration och kloka bastutankar.

Tarek "The racket sport magician" som tillfört fysisk träning till doktorandstudierna.

Forskningssjuksköterska Catrin som sett till att alla formulär och databas skötts korrekt i vår ALLAN-studie.

Mina arbetskollegor på det palliativa teamet i Karlskrona och Karlshamn. Vilken ynnest det är att diskutera livet och döden med er.

Sist, men inte minst till alla patienter inklusive de som varit med i forskningen. Ni är anledningen till att jag forskar.

8. References

- 1. World Health Organization. Palliative care: WHO; [Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/palliative-care</u>.
- 2. World Health Organization. Palliative care: WHO; [Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/teams/integrated-health-services/clinical-services-and-systems/palliative-care</u>.
- 3. International Association for Hospice & Palliative Care. 2018 [Available from: <u>https://hospicecare.com/what-we-do/projects/consensus-based-definition-of-palliative-care/definition/#ftn2</u>.
- The Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare. Nationellt kunskapsstöd för god palliativ vård i livets slutskede 2013 [Available from: <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-</u> <u>dokument/artikelkatalog/kunskapsstod/2013-6-4.pdf</u>.
- 5. Hanks G. Palliative care: careless use of language undermines our identity. Palliat Med. 2008;22(2):109-10.
- 6. Beck-Friis B, Strang P. The organization of hospital-based home care for terminally ill cancer patients: the Motala model. Palliat Med. 1993;7(2):93-100.
- 7. Axelsson B, editor Specialized palliative home care in Sweden with special respect to the development in sparsely populated areas2013.
- 8. Adolfsson K, Kreicbergs U, Bratthäll C, Holmberg E, Björk-Eriksson T, Stenmarker M. Referral of patients with cancer to palliative care: Attitudes, practices and work-related experiences among Swedish physicians. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2022;31(6):e13680.
- 9. von Gunten CF, Lupu D. Development of a medical subspecialty in palliative medicine: progress report. J Palliat Med. 2004;7(2):209-19.
- 10. Lamont EB. A demographic and prognostic approach to defining the end of life. J Palliat Med. 2005;8 Suppl 1:S12-21.
- Hui D, Nooruddin Z, Didwaniya N, Dev R, De La Cruz M, Kim SH, et al. Concepts and definitions for "actively dying," "end of life," "terminally ill," "terminal care," and "transition of care": a systematic review. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2014;47(1):77-89.
- 12. Teunissen SC, Wesker W, Kruitwagen C, de Haes HC, Voest EE, de Graeff A. Symptom prevalence in patients with incurable cancer: a systematic review. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2007;34(1):94-104.

- 13. Priestman TJ, Baum M. Evaluation of quality of life in patients receiving treatment for advanced breast cancer. Lancet. 1976;1(7965):899-900.
- 14. Osse BHP, Vernooij-Dassen MJFJ, Schadé E, de Vree B, van den Muijsenbergh METC, Grol RPTM. Problems to discuss with cancer patients in palliative care: a comprehensive approach. Patient Education and Counseling. 2002;47(3):195-204.
- 15. Calman KC. Quality of life in cancer patients--an hypothesis. J Med Ethics. 1984;10(3):124-7.
- Rummans TA, Bostwick JM, Clark MM. Maintaining quality of life at the end of life. Mayo Clin Proc. 2000;75(12):1305-10.
- 17. Singer PA, Martin DK, Kelner M. Quality end-of-life care: patients' perspectives. Jama. 1999;281(2):163-8.
- Stewart AL, Teno J, Patrick DL, Lynn J. The concept of quality of life of dying persons in the context of health care. Journal of pain and symptom management. 1999;17(2):93-108.
- 19. Cleeland CS, Bennett GJ, Dantzer R, Dougherty PM, Dunn AJ, Meyers CA, et al. Are the symptoms of cancer and cancer treatment due to a shared biologic mechanism? A cytokine-immunologic model of cancer symptoms. Cancer. 2003;97(11):2919-25.
- 20. Rick B. Addressing the hidden toxicities of cancer: a call to action for clinicians, researchers and clinical trialists. BMJ Oncology. 2024;3(1):e000429.
- 21. Cleeland CS. Symptom Burden: Multiple Symptoms and Their Impact as Patient-Reported Outcomes. JNCI Monographs. 2007;2007(37):16-21.
- 22. Glare P, Virik K, Jones M, Hudson M, Eychmuller S, Simes J, et al. A systematic review of physicians' survival predictions in terminally ill cancer patients. Bmj. 2003;327(7408):195-8.
- 23. Oken MM, Creech RH, Tormey DC, Horton J, Davis TE, McFadden ET, et al. Toxicity and response criteria of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. Am J Clin Oncol. 1982;5(6):649-55.
- 24. Karnofsky DA. The clinical evaluation of chemotherapeutic agents in cancer. Evaluation of chemotherapeutic agents. 1949:191-205.
- 25. West H, Jin JO. Performance Status in Patients With Cancer. JAMA Oncology. 2015;1(7):998-.
- Cella DF, Tulsky DS, Gray G, Sarafian B, Linn E, Bonomi A, et al. The Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy scale: development and validation of the general measure. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 1993;11(3):570-9.
- 27. King MT, Cella D, Osoba D, Stockler M, Eton D, Thompson J, et al. Meta-analysis provides evidence-based interpretation guidelines for the clinical significance of mean differences for the FACT-G, a cancer-specific quality of life questionnaire. Patient Relat Outcome Meas. 2010;1:119-26.

- 28. Hui D, De La Cruz M, Mori M, Parsons HA, Kwon JH, Torres-Vigil I, et al. Concepts and definitions for "supportive care," "best supportive care," "palliative care," and "hospice care" in the published literature, dictionaries, and textbooks. Supportive Care in Cancer. 2013;21(3):659-85.
- 29. Murtagh FE, Ramsenthaler C, Firth A, Groeneveld EI, Lovell N, Simon ST, et al. A brief, patient- and proxy-reported outcome measure in advanced illness: Validity, reliability and responsiveness of the Integrated Palliative care Outcome Scale (IPOS). Palliat Med. 2019;33(8):1045-57.
- Smith AB, Cocks K, Parry D, Taylor M. Reporting of health-related quality of life (HRQOL) data in oncology trials: a comparison of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life (EORTC QLQ-C30) and the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General (FACT-G). Qual Life Res. 2014;23(3):971-6.
- 31. Steinhauser KE, Clipp EC, Bosworth HB, McNeilly M, Christakis NA, Voils CI, et al. Measuring quality of life at the end of life: validation of the QUAL-E. Palliat Support Care. 2004;2(1):3-14.
- 32. Fallon M, Smyth J. Terminology: the historical perspective, evolution and current usage--room for confusion? European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990). 2008;44(8):1069-71.
- 33. Hui D, Mori M, Parsons HA, Kim SH, Li Z, Damani S, et al. The lack of standard definitions in the supportive and palliative oncology literature. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2012;43(3):582-92.
- 34. Gazelle G. Understanding hospice--an underutilized option for life's final chapter. The New England journal of medicine. 2007;357(4):321-4.
- 35. Nordly M, Vadstrup ES, Sjøgren P, Kurita GP. Home-based specialized palliative care in patients with advanced cancer: A systematic review. Palliat Support Care. 2016;14(6):713-24.
- 36. Gomes B, Calanzani N, Curiale V, McCrone P, Higginson IJ. Effectiveness and costeffectiveness of home palliative care services for adults with advanced illness and their caregivers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;2013(6):Cd007760.
- 37. Socialstyrelsen. Dödsorsaksregistret Stockholm [2021-02-26]. Available from: https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/statistik-och-data/register/allaregister/dodsorsaksregistret/. [
- 38. Brown CR, Hsu AT, Kendall C, Marshall D, Pereira J, Prentice M, et al. How are physicians delivering palliative care? A population-based retrospective cohort study describing the mix of generalist and specialist palliative care models in the last year of life. Palliat Med. 2018;32(8):1334-43.
- 39. Murtagh FE, Bausewein C, Verne J, Groeneveld EI, Kaloki YE, Higginson IJ. How many people need palliative care? A study developing and comparing methods for population-based estimates. Palliat Med. 2014;28(1):49-58.

- 40. Nordström M, Strang P. High Degree of Satisfaction With the Support Given by Multidisciplinary Palliative Home Care Teams in the County of Stockholm. J Palliat Care. 2018;33(2):109-14.
- 41. Hui D, Bruera E. Integrating palliative care into the trajectory of cancer care. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology. 2016;13(3):159-71.
- 42. David W. Kissane MD, M.P.M., F.R.A.N.Z.C.P., F.A.Ch.P.M. ,, Maria McKenzie BBS, Sidney Bloch MBBC, Ph.D., F.R.A.N.Z.C.P., F.R.C.Psych. ,, Chaya Moskowitz PD, Dean P. McKenzie BA, Imogen O'Neill BA, M.Psych. ,. Family Focused Grief Therapy: A Randomized, Controlled Trial in Palliative Care and Bereavement. American Journal of Psychiatry. 2006;163(7):1208-18.
- Puchalski CM, Vitillo R, Hull SK, Reller N. Improving the spiritual dimension of whole person care: reaching national and international consensus. J Palliat Med. 2014;17(6):642-56.
- 44. Sudore RL, Lum HD, You JJ, Hanson LC, Meier DE, Pantilat SZ, et al. Defining Advance Care Planning for Adults: A Consensus Definition From a Multidisciplinary Delphi Panel. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2017;53(5):821-32.e1.
- 45. Zimmermann C, Swami N, Krzyzanowska M, Hannon B, Leighl N, Oza A, et al. Early palliative care for patients with advanced cancer: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2014;383(9930):1721-30.
- 46. Stroebe M, Schut H, Boerner K. Cautioning Health-Care Professionals. Omega (Westport). 2017;74(4):455-73.
- 47. Oxford Textbook of Palliative Nursing. Ferrell BR, Coyle N, Paice J, editors: Oxford University Press; 2015 01 Jan 2015.
- 48. Peppercorn JM, Smith TJ, Helft PR, Debono DJ, Berry SR, Wollins DS, et al. American society of clinical oncology statement: toward individualized care for patients with advanced cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2011;29(6):755-60.
- 49. Harrington SE, Smith TJ. The role of chemotherapy at the end of life: "when is enough, enough?". Jama. 2008;299(22):2667-78.
- 50. Smith TJ, Dow LA, Virago EA, Khatcheressian J, Matsuyama R, Lyckholm LJ. A pilot trial of decision aids to give truthful prognostic and treatment information to chemotherapy patients with advanced cancer. J Support Oncol. 2011;9(2):79-86.
- 51. Bergqvist J, Strang P. Breast Cancer Patients' Preferences for Truth Versus Hope Are Dynamic and Change During Late Lines of Palliative Chemotherapy. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2019;57(4):746-52.
- 52. Näppä U, Lindqvist O, Rasmussen BH, Axelsson B. Palliative chemotherapy during the last month of life. Annals of Oncology. 2011;22(11):2375-80.

- 53. Mack JW, Weeks JC, Wright AA, Block SD, Prigerson HG. End-of-life discussions, goal attainment, and distress at the end of life: predictors and outcomes of receipt of care consistent with preferences. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2010;28(7):1203-8.
- 54. Schnipper LE, Smith TJ, Raghavan D, Blayney DW, Ganz PA, Mulvey TM, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology Identifies Five Key Opportunities to Improve Care and Reduce Costs: The Top Five List for Oncology. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2012;30(14):1715-24.
- 55. Outcomes of cancer treatment for technology assessment and cancer treatment guidelines. American Society of Clinical Oncology. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 1996;14(2):671-9.
- Barbera L, Taylor C, Dudgeon D. Why do patients with cancer visit the emergency department near the end of life? Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2010;182(6):563-8.
- Earle CC, Landrum MB, Souza JM, Neville BA, Weeks JC, Ayanian JZ. Aggressiveness of cancer care near the end of life: is it a quality-of-care issue? Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2008;26(23):3860-6.
- 58. Merchant SJ, Brogly SB, Goldie C, Booth CM, Nanji S, Patel SV, et al. Palliative Care is Associated with Reduced Aggressive End-of-Life Care in Patients with Gastrointestinal Cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018;25(6):1478-87.
- 59. Henson LA, Gao W, Higginson IJ, Smith M, Davies JM, Ellis-Smith C, et al. Emergency department attendance by patients with cancer in their last month of life: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2015;33(4):370-6.
- 60. Wright AA, Zhang B, Keating NL, Weeks JC, Prigerson HG. Associations between palliative chemotherapy and adult cancer patients' end of life care and place of death: prospective cohort study. 2014;348.
- 61. Nilsson J, Blomberg C, Holgersson G, Carlsson T, Bergqvist M, Bergström S. End-oflife care: Where do cancer patients want to die? A systematic review. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. 2017;13(6):356-64.
- 62. Skorstengaard MH, Jensen AB, Andreassen P, Brogaard T, Brendstrup E, Løkke A, et al. Advance care planning and place of death, hospitalisation and actual place of death in lung, heart and cancer disease: a randomised controlled trial. BMJ Support Palliat Care. 2020;10(4):e37.
- 63. van der Velden NCA, Meijers MC, Han PKJ, van Laarhoven HWM, Smets EMA, Henselmans I. The Effect of Prognostic Communication on Patient Outcomes in Palliative Cancer Care: a Systematic Review. Current Treatment Options in Oncology. 2020;21(5):40.

- 64. Silvestri G, Pritchard R, Welch HG. Preferences for chemotherapy in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer: descriptive study based on scripted interviews. Bmj. 1998;317(7161):771-5.
- 65. Bauman JR, Temel JS. The integration of early palliative care with oncology care: the time has come for a new tradition. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2014;12(12):1763-71; quiz 71.
- 66. Jordan K, Aapro M, Kaasa S, Ripamonti CI, Scotté F, Strasser F, et al. European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) position paper on supportive and palliative care. Annals of Oncology. 2018;29(1):36-43.
- 67. Smith CB, Phillips T, Smith TJ. Using the New ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline for Palliative Care Concurrent With Oncology Care Using the TEAM Approach. American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book. 2017(37):714-23.
- 68. Zimmermann C, Swami N, Krzyzanowska M, Leighl N, Rydall A, Rodin G, et al. Perceptions of palliative care among patients with advanced cancer and their caregivers. Cmaj. 2016;188(10):E217-e27.
- Wentlandt K, Krzyzanowska MK, Swami N, Rodin GM, Le LW, Zimmermann C. Referral practices of oncologists to specialized palliative care. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2012;30(35):4380-6.
- Jordhøy MS, Fayers P, Saltnes T, Ahlner-Elmqvist M, Jannert M, Kaasa S. A palliativecare intervention and death at home: a cluster randomised trial. Lancet. 2000;356(9233):888-93.
- 71. Temel JS, Greer JA, Muzikansky A, Gallagher ER, Admane S, Jackson VA, et al. Early palliative care for patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. The New England journal of medicine. 2010;363(8):733-42.
- 72. Bruera E, Kuehn N, Miller MJ, Selmser P, Macmillan K. The Edmonton Symptom Assessment System (ESAS): a simple method for the assessment of palliative care patients. J Palliat Care. 1991;7(2):6-9.
- 73. Vanbutsele G, Pardon K, Van Belle S, Surmont V, De Laat M, Colman R, et al. Effect of early and systematic integration of palliative care in patients with advanced cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(3):394-404.
- 74. Groenvold M, Petersen MA, Damkier A, Neergaard MA, Nielsen JB, Pedersen L, et al. Randomised clinical trial of early specialist palliative care plus standard care versus standard care alone in patients with advanced cancer: The Danish Palliative Care Trial. Palliative Medicine. 2017;31(9):814-24.
- 75. Scarpi E, Dall'Agata M, Zagonel V, Gamucci T, Bertè R, Sansoni E, et al. Systematic vs. on-demand early palliative care in gastric cancer patients: a randomized clinical trial assessing patient and healthcare service outcomes. Support Care Cancer. 2019;27(7):2425-34.

- 76. Franciosi V, Maglietta G, Degli Esposti C, Caruso G, Cavanna L, Bertè R, et al. Early palliative care and quality of life of advanced cancer patients-a multicenter randomized clinical trial. Ann Palliat Med. 2019;8(4):381-9.
- 77. Slama O, Pochop L, Sedo J, Svancara J, Sedova P, Svetlakova L, et al. Effects of Early and Systematic Integration of Specialist Palliative Care in Patients with Advanced Cancer: Randomized Controlled Trial PALINT. J Palliat Med. 2020;23(12):1586-93.
- Eychmüller S, Zwahlen S, Fliedner MC, Jüni P, Aebersold DM, Aujesky D, et al. Single early palliative care intervention added to usual oncology care for patients with advanced cancer: A randomized controlled trial (SENS Trial). Palliative Medicine. 2021;35(6):1108-17.
- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2021;71(3):209-49.
- 80. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2022. CA Cancer J Clin. 2022;72(1):7-33.
- 81. Jiang Y, Zhao M, Tang W, Zheng X. Impacts of systemic treatments on health-related quality of life for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMC Cancer. 2024;24(1):188.
- 82. Carrato A, Falcone A, Ducreux M, Valle JW, Parnaby A, Djazouli K, et al. A Systematic Review of the Burden of Pancreatic Cancer in Europe: Real-World Impact on Survival, Quality of Life and Costs. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2015;46(3):201-11.
- 83. Socialstyrelsen Co. Cancer i siffror. 2018.
- 84. Ioka T, Komatsu Y, Mizuno N, Tsuji A, Ohkawa S, Tanaka M, et al. Randomised phase II trial of irinotecan plus S-1 in patients with gemcitabine-refractory pancreatic cancer. British journal of cancer. 2017;116(4):464-71.
- Portal A, Pernot S, Tougeron D, Arbaud C, Bidault AT, de la Fouchardiere C, et al. Nab-paclitaxel plus gemcitabine for metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma after Folfirinox failure: an AGEO prospective multicentre cohort. British journal of cancer. 2015;113(7):989-95.
- 86. Pelzer U, Schwaner I, Stieler J, Adler M, Seraphin J, Dorken B, et al. Best supportive care (BSC) versus oxaliplatin, folinic acid and 5-fluorouracil (OFF) plus BSC in patients for second-line advanced pancreatic cancer: a phase III-study from the German CONKO-study group. European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990). 2011;47(11):1676-81.
- 87. Walker E, Ko A. Beyond first-line chemotherapy for advanced pancreatic cancer: An expanding array of therapeutic options? World journal of gastroenterology : WJG. 2014;20:2224-36.

- 88. Sonbol MB, Firwana B, Wang Z, Almader-Douglas D, Borad MJ, Makhoul I, et al. Second-line treatment in patients with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: A metaanalysis. Cancer. 2017;123(23):4680-6.
- Gill S, Ko Y-J, Cripps C, Beaudoin A, Dhesy-Thind S, Zulfiqar M, et al. PANCREOX: A Randomized Phase III Study of Fluorouracil/Leucovorin With or Without Oxaliplatin for Second-Line Advanced Pancreatic Cancer in Patients Who Have Received Gemcitabine-Based Chemotherapy. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2016;34(32):3914-20.
- 90. Oettle H, Riess H, Stieler JM, Heil G, Schwaner I, Seraphin J, et al. Second-line oxaliplatin, folinic acid, and fluorouracil versus folinic acid and fluorouracil alone for gemcitabine-refractory pancreatic cancer: outcomes from the CONKO-003 trial. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2014;32(23):2423-9.
- Dadi N, Stanley M, Shahda S, O'Neil BH, Sehdev A. Impact of Nab-Paclitaxel-based Second-line Chemotherapy in Metastatic Pancreatic Cancer. Anticancer Res. 2017;37(10):5533-9.
- 92. Peeters M, Price TJ, Cervantes A, Sobrero AF, Ducreux M, Hotko Y, et al. Randomized Phase III Study of Panitumumab With Fluorouracil, Leucovorin, and Irinotecan (FOLFIRI) Compared With FOLFIRI Alone As Second-Line Treatment in Patients With Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2010;28(31):4706-13.
- 93. Bazarbashi S, Hakoun AM, Gad AM, Elshenawy MA, Aljubran A, Alzahrani AM, et al. Efficacy of second-line chemotherapy after a first-line triplet in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Curr Oncol. 2019;26(1):e24-e9.
- 94. Goldberg RM, Rothenberg ML, Van Cutsem E, Benson AB, III, Blanke CD, Diasio RB, et al. The Continuum of Care: A Paradigm for the Management of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. The Oncologist. 2007;12(1):38-50.
- 95. Ghazy HF, El-Hadaad HA, Wahba HA, Abbas R, Abbas OA. Metastatic Esophageal Carcinoma: Prognostic Factors and Survival. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2022;53(2):446-50.
- 96. Ilson DH, Wadleigh RG, Leichman LP, Kelsen DP. Paclitaxel given by a weekly 1-h infusion in advanced esophageal cancer. Ann Oncol. 2007;18(5):898-902.
- Muro K, Hamaguchi T, Ohtsu A, Boku N, Chin K, Hyodo I, et al. A phase II study of single-agent docetaxel in patients with metastatic esophageal cancer. Ann Oncol. 2004;15(6):955-9.
- 98. Cheng AL, Qin S, Ikeda M, Galle PR, Ducreux M, Kim TY, et al. Updated efficacy and safety data from IMbrave150: Atezolizumab plus bevacizumab vs. sorafenib for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2022;76(4):862-73.

- Sharma A, Dwary AD, Mohanti BK, Deo SV, Pal S, Sreenivas V, et al. Best supportive care compared with chemotherapy for unresectable gall bladder cancer: a randomized controlled study. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2010;28(30):4581-6.
- 100. Wagner AD, Unverzagt S, Grothe W, Kleber G, Grothey A, Haerting J, et al. Chemotherapy for advanced gastric cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010(3):Cd004064.
- 101. Kaplan EL, Meier P. Nonparametric Estimation from Incomplete Observations. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 1958;53(282):457-81.
- 102. Nardini C. The ethics of clinical trials. Ecancermedicalscience. 2014;8:387.
- Kaasa S, Loge JH, Aapro M, Albreht T, Anderson R, Bruera E, et al. Integration of oncology and palliative care: a Lancet Oncology Commission. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(11):e588-e653.
- 104. Bakitas M, Lyons KD, Hegel MT, Balan S, Brokaw FC, Seville J, et al. Effects of a palliative care intervention on clinical outcomes in patients with advanced cancer: the Project ENABLE II randomized controlled trial. Jama. 2009;302(7):741-9.
- 105. Temel JS, Greer JA, El-Jawahri A, Pirl WF, Park ER, Jackson VA, et al. Effects of Early Integrated Palliative Care in Patients With Lung and GI Cancer: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2017;35(8):834-41.
- 106. Maltoni M, Scarpi E, Dall'Agata M, Zagonel V, Bertè R, Ferrari D, et al. Systematic versus on-demand early palliative care: results from a multicentre, randomised clinical trial. European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990). 2016;65:61-8.
- 107. Vanbutsele G, Van Belle S, Surmont V, De Laat M, Colman R, Eecloo K, et al. The effect of early and systematic integration of palliative care in oncology on quality of life and health care use near the end of life: A randomised controlled trial. European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990). 2020;124:186-93.
- 108. Bergqvist J, Strang P. The will to live breast cancer patients perceptions' of palliative chemotherapy. Acta Oncol. 2017;56(9):1168-74.
- 109. Prigerson HG, Bao Y, Shah MA, et al. Chemotherapy use, performance status, and quality of life at the end of life. JAMA Oncology. 2015;1(6):778-84.
- 110. Tang ST, Wu SC, Hung YN, Chen JS, Huang EW, Liu TW. Determinants of aggressive end-of-life care for Taiwanese cancer decedents, 2001 to 2006. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2009;27(27):4613-8.
- 111. Hui D, Kim SH, Roquemore J, Dev R, Chisholm G, Bruera E. Impact of timing and setting of palliative care referral on quality of end-of-life care in cancer patients. Cancer. 2014;120(11):1743-9.
- 112. Shepperd S, Gonçalves-Bradley DC, Straus SE, Wee B. Hospital at home: home-based end-of-life care. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2021(3).

- 113. Ekström A, Brun E, Eberhard J, Segerlantz M. Second-line palliative chemotherapy, survival, and prognostic factors in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. Acta Oncologica. 2021;60(12):1580-8.
- 114. Greer JA, Pirl WF, Jackson VA, Muzikansky A, Lennes IT, Heist RS, et al. Effect of early palliative care on chemotherapy use and end-of-life care in patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2012;30(4):394-400.
- 115. Kavalieratos D, Corbelli J, Zhang D, Dionne-Odom JN, Ernecoff NC, Hanmer J, et al. Association Between Palliative Care and Patient and Caregiver Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Jama. 2016;316(20):2104-14.
- 116. Huskamp HA, Keating NL, Malin JL, Zaslavsky AM, Weeks JC, Earle CC, et al. Discussions with physicians about hospice among patients with metastatic lung cancer. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169(10):954-62.
- 117. Strang P. Palliative oncology and palliative care. Mol Oncol. 2022;16(19):3399-409.
- 118. Geijteman ECT, Kuip EJM, Oskam J, Lees D, Bruera E. Illness trajectories of incurable solid cancers. Bmj. 2024;384:e076625.
- 119. Axelsson B. The Challenge: Equal Availability to Palliative Care According to Individual Need Regardless of Age, Diagnosis, Geographical Location, and Care Level. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022;19(7).
- 120. Nickolich MS, El-Jawahri A, Temel JS, LeBlanc TW. Discussing the Evidence for Upstream Palliative Care in Improving Outcomes in Advanced Cancer. American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book. 2016(36):e534-e8.
- 121. Sedhom R, Shulman LN, Parikh RB. Precision Palliative Care as a Pragmatic Solution for a Care Delivery Problem. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2023;41(16):2888-92.
- Haun MW, Estel S, Rücker G, Friederich HC, Villalobos M, Thomas M, et al. Early palliative care for adults with advanced cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2017(6).
- 123. Seow H, Barbera LC, McGrail K, Burge F, Guthrie DM, Lawson B, et al. Effect of Early Palliative Care on End-of-Life Health Care Costs: A Population-Based, Propensity Score–Matched Cohort Study. JCO Oncology Practice. 2022;18(1):e183-e92.
- 124. Von Roenn JH, von Gunten C. The care people need and the education of physicians. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2011;29(36):4742-3.
- 125. Evans CJ, Harding R, Higginson IJ. 'Best practice' in developing and evaluating palliative and end-of-life care services: a meta-synthesis of research methods for the MORECare project. Palliat Med. 2013;27(10):885-98.
- 126. Kim CA, Lelond S, Daeninck PJ, Rabbani R, Lix L, McClement S, et al. The impact of early palliative care on the quality of life of patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: The IMPERATIVE case-crossover study. Support Care Cancer. 2023;31(4):250.

- 127. Rodin R, Swami N, Pope A, Hui D, Hannon B, Le LW, et al. Impact of early palliative care according to baseline symptom severity: Secondary analysis of a cluster-randomized controlled trial in patients with advanced cancer. Cancer Med. 2022;11(8):1869-78.
- 128. Lelond S, Ward J, Lambert PJ, Kim CA. Symptom Burden of Patients with Advanced Pancreas Cancer (APC): A Provincial Cancer Institute Observational Study. Curr Oncol. 2021;28(4):2789-800.
- 129. Bojesson A, Brun E, Eberhard J, Segerlantz M. Quality of life for patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancer randomised to early specialised home-based palliative care: the ALLAN trial. British journal of cancer. 2024.





Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:131 ISBN 978-91-8021-629-6 ISSN 1652-8220

